University of Alabama in Huntsville

Theses

UAH Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2024

Small molecule modulation of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor attenuates neurodegeneration in an in vitro model of Parkinson's disease

Poshan Pokharel

Follow this and additional works at: https://louis.uah.edu/uah-theses

Recommended Citation

Pokharel, Poshan, "Small molecule modulation of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor attenuates neurodegeneration in an in vitro model of Parkinson's disease" (2024). *Theses*. 660. https://louis.uah.edu/uah-theses/660

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the UAH Electronic Theses and Dissertations at LOUIS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses by an authorized administrator of LOUIS.

SMALL MOLECULE MODULATION OF THE P75 NEUROTROPHIN RECEPTOR ATTENUATES NEURODEGENERATION IN AN *IN VITRO* MODEL OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE

Poshan Pokharel

A THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in The Department of Biological Sciences to The Graduate School of The University of Alabama in Huntsville May 2024

Approved by:

Dr. Bradley Kraemer, Research Advisor Dr. Jerome Baudry, Committee Chair Dr. Joseph Ng, Committee Member Dr. Paul Wolf, Department Chair Dr. Rainer Steinwandt, College Dean Dr. Jon Hakkila, Graduate Dean

Abstract

SMALL MOLECULE MODULATION OF THE P75 NEUROTROPHIN RECEPTOR ATTENUATES NEURODEGENERATION IN AN *IN VITRO* MODEL OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE

Poshan Pokharel

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Biological Sciences

The University of Alabama in Huntsville May 2024

The p75 Neurotrophin Receptor (p75^{NTR}) is a multifunctional transmembrane protein expressed in distinct regions of the adult nervous system. p75^{NTR} regulates various functions, including neuronal survival or apoptosis interacting with coreceptors Trk receptors or sortilin. Activation of p75^{NTR} occurs through proteolytic processing, and we previously demonstrated that oxidative stress induces activation of p75^{NTR} in LUHMES cells, a neuronal cell line derived from the human ventral mesencephalon. Dopaminergic neurons of the ventral mesencephalon are vulnerable to oxidative stress and neurodegeneration associated with Parkinson's disease (PD). Thus, we evaluated the mechanisms behind p75^{NTR} activation and its physiological implications in a PD model. Our findings reveal that oxidative stress induces proteolytic processing of p75^{NTR} in LUHMES cells, promoting internalization into endosomes. We also found that pharmacological modulation of p75^{NTR} using LM11A-31 protects LUHMES cells from neurite degeneration and reduces apoptosis associated with oxidative stress, indicating p75^{NTR} as a potential therapeutic target for PD.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Dr. Bradley Kraemer, Dr. Jerome Baudry, and Dr. Joe Ng for their support and invaluable advice in helping me get to where I am today. I am especially grateful for the guidance and supervision I received from Dr. Kraemer and Dr. Baudry. I would also like to thank our department chair, Dr. Paul Wolf, for being there and helping me at every step of the process. I would like to express my deep gratitude to my family and friends for their encouragement and continued support. I would then like to thank all of my lab mates from both Dr. Kraemer's Lab and Dr. Baudry's Lab; without them, I would not have been able to accomplish this. I am particularly thankful to Aaron Newchurch, Sunny Oberby, Lorelei Darzi, Dalia Altubuh, Isaac Perkins, Sara Jackson, Armin Ahmadi, Maher Mansur, Boshra Rezvanian, Manasa Nagesh Hegde, and Emika Miyamoto for both helping hand and moral support. Additionally, I thank Dr. Ahmed Lawan, Dr. Cruz Vera, Nabin Ghimire, Lara Holiday, Noriko Inoguchi, Debbie Carswell, and all the Department of Biological Sciences at UAH staff members for their help and support. Finally, I am grateful for the advice and assistance of graduate resource coordinator Simone Frazier in editing and finalizing the manuscript.

Table of Contents

Abstract		ii		
Acknowledgments ir				
Fable of Contents				
List of Figures.		vii		
Chapter 1.	Introduction	1		
1.1	Introduction to Neurotrophins	1		
1.2	Overview of Tropomyosin Kinase Receptors	5		
1.3	Introduction to p75 Neurotrophin Receptor (p75 ^{NTR})			
1.4	Structure of p75 ^{NTR}			
1.5	Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis (RIP) of p75 ^{NTR}			
1.6	Intracellular p75 ^{NTR} Interactors			
1.7	Parkinson's Disease			
1.8	Oxidative Stress			
1.9	Small Molecule Modulator of p75 ^{NTR} , LM11A-31			
1.10	Homology Modeling			
1.11	Intrinsically Disordered Regions			
1.12	Ab-Initio Protein Structure Prediction			
1.13	Study Significance and Overarching Hypothesis			
Chapter 2.	Experimental Procedures			
2.1	Cell Culture			
2.2	Cell Treatment			
2.3	Cell Viability Analysis			
2.4	Immunostaining and Confocal Microscopy			

	2.5	Immunoblotting Analyses	. 41
	2.6	Statistical Analyses	. 42
	2.7	Study Design and Ethical Statements	. 43
	2.8	Homology Modeling	. 43
	2.9	IDR Prediction	. 44
	2.10	Ab Initio Protein Modeling	. 45
Ch	apter 3.	Results	. 47
	3.1 p75 ^{ntr} 1	Receptor Internalization Is Required for Oxidative Stress-Induced Processing	. 47
	3.2 and Dea	Pharmacological Modulation of p75 ^{NTR} Reduced Neurite Degeneration ath Associated with Oxidative Stress	. 50
	3.3 and Trk	Differentiated LUHMES Cells Express Sortilin and TrkA but Lack TrkB	. 53
	3.4	Homology Modeling of Human p75 ^{NTR} Extracellular Domain	. 55
	3.5	P75 ^{NTR} Stalk Domain Consists of Intrinsically Disordered Regions	. 57
	3.6 Domain	LM11A-31 Binds in Non-Canonical Regions in the P75 ^{NTR} Extracellular Away from the NGF Binding Site I	. 60
Ch	apter 4.	Discussion	. 64
	4.1	Role of Receptor Internalization in p75 ^{NTR} Processing	. 64
	4.2 Neurolo	Small Molecule, LM11A-31 Modulation of p75 ^{NTR} in gical Disorders	. 66
	4.3	P75 ^{NTR} Signaling Influencers in the Cells Derived from Mesencephalon	. 68
	4.4 LM11A	Understanding the Structure of p75 ^{NTR} , and the Interaction Between and p75 ^{NTR} -ECD	. 69
Ch	apter 5.	Conclusion	. 73
Referen	ices		. 75

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Structural representation of Neurotrophins.	2
Figure 1.2 Schematic Representation of p75 ^{NTR} and its Co-Receptors.	12
Figure 1.3 Graphical Table Representing p75 ^{NTR} Structure.	15
Figure 1.4 Representation of Healthy Brain vs. Parkinson's Patient's Brain	20
Figure 1.5 Structural Representation of NGF Loop 1 and LM11A-31	29
Figure 1.6 Schematic Representation of Our Hypothesis.	37
Figure 2.1 Model System Demonstrating LUHMES Cells in Various Conditions	46
Figure 3.1 Receptor Internalization is Required for Oxidative Stress-Induced p75 ^{NTR} Processing.	49
Figure 3.2 Pharmacological Modulation of p75 ^{NTR} Reduced Neurite Degeneration and Death Associated with Oxidative Stress.	52
Figure 3.3 Differentiated LUHMES Cells Express Sortilin and TrkA but Lack TrkB and TrkC.	54
Figure 3.4 Homology Modeling of the Structure of Human p75 ^{NTR} -ECD	56
Figure 3.5 The p75NTR Stalk Domain Consists of IDRs	58
Figure 3.6 Ab Initio modeling of the p75 ^{NTR} Stalk Domain	59
Figure 3.7 Molecular Interaction Between LM11A-31/p75 ^{NTR—} ECD	61
Figure 3.8 Structural Characterization of the NGF Binding Site of the p75 ^{NTR} -ECD	62
Figure 3.9 Molecular Docking of LM11A-31 in the p75 ^{NTR} – ECD	

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Introduction to Neurotrophins

The neurotrophins, a family of closely related protein growth factors exhibiting neurotrophic biological activity, play a pivotal role in regulating the survival, differentiation, and specification of neurons during embryonic and postnatal development. Neurotrophins also modulate synaptic responses in the adult nervous system, consequently influencing higher systemic functions such as behavior, cognition, learning, and memory formation (Dechant & Neumann, 2002). In addition to their conventional impact in promoting neuronal cell survival, neurotrophins have been demonstrated to regulate the growth and restructuring of axons and dendrites, synaptic attributes encompassing number, size, and maturity, as well as neurotransmitter release, long-term potentiation (LTP), long-term depression (LTD), neuronal excitability, and synaptic plasticity (McAllister *et al.*, 1999). A single neurotrophic factor has the potential to impact diverse neurons, and conversely, an individual neuron may be influenced by multiple neurotrophic factors (Korsching, 1993).

In mammals, there are four distinguished neurotrophins, which include nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), and neurotrophin-4 (NT-4), all originating from a common ancestral gene, exhibiting comparable sequences and structural homogeneity (Maness *et al.*, 1994). Other neuron-promoting factors have been identified, such as ciliary neurotrophic factor and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF); however, they do not exhibit homology with neurotrophins (Huang & Reichardt,

2001). In all of these neurotrophins, the active growth factor protein is a homodimer formed by identical peptide chains, and the protein's conformation is stabilized by highly conserved pairs of cysteine residues that form a cysteine knot motif within each monomer (Dechant & Neumann, 2002). Comparison of the entire molecule of mouse NGF, BDNF, and NT-3 proteins revealed a 65%/57% similarity (amino acid sequence similarity/nucleotide sequence identity) between NGF and BDNF, a 70%/61% similarity between NGF and NT-3, and a 68%/58% similarity between BDNF and NT-3. Meanwhile, NT-4 exhibited 60%, 58%, and 51% amino acid identity, respectively (Hallböök *et al.*, 1991) (Figure 1.1). The neurotrophins share numerous characteristics, including comparable molecular weights of around 13.2-15.9 kDa and isoelectric points of 9.0-10.0 (Dawbarn & Allen, 2003; Mowla *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 1.1 Structural representation of Neurotrophins.

A; Structure of nerve growth factor (PDB ID: 1SG1 (Chain A), B; Structure of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (PDB ID: 1BND (Chain A)), C; Structure of neurotrophin-3 (PDB ID: 1NT3), D; Structure of neurotrophin-4 (PDB ID: 1H8M (Chain A)). Figures created using PyMOL.

Protein synthesis of neurotrophins occurs in the rough endoplasmic reticulum, where the pro neurotrophins (approximately 210-270 amino acid residues in length) are assembled into secretory vesicles undergoing processing to form the mature neurotrophins of around 120 residues in length (Bothwell, 2014). Initially synthesized as precursor neurotrophins with an

approximate size of 30 kDa, they undergo cleavage by FURIN or pro-convertases at a highly conserved dibasic amino-acid cleavage site, ultimately yielding carboxyl-terminal mature peptides, each monomer measuring around 12-13 kDa (Chao, 2003; Dawbarn & Allen, 2003). The cleaving of pro-domains can occur at multiple points along both secretion pathways--the regulated pathway, characterized by Ca²⁺-dependent exocytosis of secretory granules, and the constitutive pathway, which automatically releases the cargo upon reaching the plasma membrane, and in addition, can also occur after the pro-proteins are released, facilitated by extracellular or co-released endopeptidases (e.g., the tissue-plasminogen activator (tPA) plasmin cascade, or matrix-metalloproteinases (MMPs)) (Leßmann & Brigadski, 2009).

Nerve growth factor (NGF), discovered in the 1950s during the exploration of survival factors to understand the detrimental impact of target tissue removal on the subsequent survival of motor and sensory neurons, is the most extensively studied member of the neurotrophin family (Skaper, 2008), and represents the first of the neurotrophins to be described (Maness *et al.*, 1994). NGF has been characterized in neural-crest derivatives, the central nervous system, and in cells of nonneural origin (Levi-Montalcini, 1987). NGF is also recognized as a pleiotropic factor because of its production by several cell types, including structural (epithelial cells, fibroblasts/myofibroblasts, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and hepatocytes), accessory (glial cells, astrocytes, and Muller cells) and immune (antigen resenting cells lymphocytes, granulocytes, mast cells and eosinophils) cells (Aloe *et al.*, 2015). BDNF has been identified in most brain areas, including the olfactory bulb, cortex, hippocampus, basal forebrain, mesencephalon, hypothalamus, brainstem, and spinal cord (Bathina & Das, 2015). Higher expression of Neurotrophin-3 has been found in the kidney, liver, lung, spleen, heart, skeletal muscle, and specific brain regions, including the CA1, CA2, and dentate gyrus of the

hippocampus, cerebellum, and placenta (Hohn *et al.*, 1990; Huang & Reichardt, 2001; Jones & Reichardt, 1990). Neurotrophin-4 is highly expressed in the prostate and weakly expressed in the thymus, placenta, skeletal muscle, and testis (Ip *et al.*, 1992).

Above and beyond their central role in cell survival, neuronal growth, and synaptic plasticity, neurotrophins also play a crucial role in initiating apoptotic pathways both during development and following injury, thus exerting a significant influence on apoptotic cell death (Ceni et al., 2014; Shamovsky et al., 2008). Neuronal programmed cell death can be classified into two forms: morphogenetic apoptosis, which occurs during neuronal development, and pathological apoptosis, occurring subsequent to injuries like cerebral ischemia or trauma, as well as in chronic neurodegenerative conditions such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), Alzheimer's disease (AD), or Parkinson's disease (PD) (Ichim et al., 2012). Neurotrophin exerts its effects on the responsive neurons by binding to two distinct cell-surface receptors – the Trk receptor tyrosine kinases and the p75 neurotrophin receptor (Chao, 2003; Ebendal, 1992). Both of these receptors have been shown to mediate the biological effects of neurotrophins by either acting together or independently (Simi & Ibáñez, 2010). NGF binding to its receptors has been suggested to form an NGF/receptor complex, which is transported through internalization in a retrograde manner to the cell body, mediating physiological actions (Buck et al., 1988). Studies revealed that proteolytic cleavage of neurotrophins regulates its biological action, such as in the case of pro neurotrophins, previously considered as inactive precursors, which have been shown to induce apoptosis favorably, activating p75^{NTR}, whereas the mature forms are thought to promote cell survival by activating Trk Receptors (Mamidipudi & Wooten, 2002).

1.2 Overview of Tropomyosin Kinase Receptors

The Tropomyosin receptor kinases (Trks) are transmembrane proteins, constituting a group of receptor tyrosine kinases crucial for mediating the effects of neurotrophins in the nervous system (Amatu et al., 2016). The Trk family of tyrosine protein kinases functions as signaling receptors for the NGF family of neurotrophins (Barbacid, 1994). The Trk family comprises three receptors: TrkA, encoded by the NTRK1 gene located on chromosome 1q21q22, TrkB encoded by the NTRK2 gene located on chromosome 9q22.1; and TrkC, encoded by the NTRK3 gene located on chromosome 15q25 (Amatu et al., 2019). TrkA gene is exclusively identified in the sensory cranial and spinal ganglia of neural crest origin; however, it is absent in sensory ganglia of placodial origin (i.e. olfactory, optic, acoustic) throughout development, and more importantly, Trk expression is maintained throughout the life of the organism (Martin-Zanca et al., 1990). On the other hand, the distribution of neurons expressing TrkB and TrkC mRNAs is significantly more extensive throughout the central nervous system (CNS) (Muragaki et al., 1995). TrkB and TrkC exhibit comparable distributions in various brain regions; however, other regions exist, such as the thalamus and habenular nuclei, where their expression is mutually exclusive (Valenzuela et al., 1993).

In mammals, the Trks constitute the second primary class of neurotrophin receptors, distinguished by an extracellular domain featuring a cysteine-rich cluster followed by three leucine-rich repeats, another cysteine-rich cluster, and two Ig-like domains (Reichardt, 2006). This is followed by a single transmembrane region that terminates in a cytoplasmic domain containing tyrosine kinase, surrounded by several tyrosine residues serving as phosphorylationdependent docking sites for cytoplasmic adaptors and enzymes (D. Skaper, 2011; Reichardt, 2006). The cytoplasmic tail of mammalian Trk receptors contains 10 known conserved tyrosine

residues, some of which undergo phosphorylation upon receptor activation; notably, three of these phosphorylated sites are situated in the auto-regulatory loop of the tyrosine kinase domain, impacting kinase activity upon activation (Uren & Turnley, 2014). The second immunoglobulin-like domain in human Trk receptors has been identified as the site responsible for specific binding to neurotrophins (Urfer *et al.*, 1995).

In general, the structures of Trk receptors exhibit substantial similarity; however, alternate splicing gives rise to two recognized forms of TrkA, three forms of TrkB (including two lacking functional tyrosine kinase domains), and six forms of TrkC (comprising four lacking a functional tyrosine kinase domain and two with small inserts in the tyrosine kinase domain) (Shelton *et al.*, 1995). Data revealed the presence of a 140 kDa TrkA band in all tested cell lines; in addition, a higher molecular weight form of TrkA (~180 kDa), likely indicative of TrkA N-glycosylation, was also observed in SK-BR-3 and BT-474 cell lines (Griffin *et al.*, 2020). TrkB is comprised of three major protein isoforms: the full-length TrkB (TrkB-FL, 145 kDa), along with two alternatively spliced isoforms (95kDa) lacking the tyrosine kinase domain -- TrkB-T1 and TrkB-Shc (Akil, 2016). Similarly, TrkC also exhibits various isoforms; apart from the full-length isoforms containing the tyrosine kinase domain (TrkC-FL) with a molecular weight of 140 kDa, TrkC presents a truncated isoform termed TrkC-T, weighing 90 kDa (Dedoni *et al.*, 2021).

Neurotrophins have been implicated to directly bind to the tyrosine kinases, resulting in dimerization of the receptors and their activation, where TRKA specifically binds to NGF, and TRKB is specific for BDNF and NT-4. In contrast, TRKC is specific for NT-3 (Huang & Reichardt, 2001). However, available reports indicate that neurotrophin NT-3 can also activate TrkA through a molecular mechanism where the NT-3/TrkA complex does not undergo

internalization but rather activates local membrane signaling (Petruska & Mendell, 2017). Neurotrophin receptor multimerization can manifest at different levels, including homodimerization, heteromerization, and engagement with other membrane-associated proteins, and high-resolution structural analyses have confirmed that both Trk and p75^{NTR} receptors interact as homodimers with the mature form of neurotrophins (Simi & Ibáñez, 2010). Following ligand binding, the neurotrophin-receptor complex undergoes internalization, giving rise to "signaling endosomes" (Kruttgen et al., 2003; Pérez et al., 1995) and is retrogradely transported along the axon to the soma (Pérez et al., 1995). The pathways modulated by neurotrophin-mediated activation of Trk receptors encompass a spectrum of cellular processes, including proliferation and survival, axonal and dendritic growth and remodeling, assembly and restructuring of the cytoskeleton, membrane trafficking and diffusion, as well as synapse formation, function, and plasticity (Huang & Reichardt, 2003). TrkA/NGF signaling supports the survival and differentiation of both sympathetic and sensory neurons sensitive to temperature and pain. Conversely, TrkB/BDNF or TrkB/NT-4 and TrkC/NT-3 signaling pathways play roles in supporting sensory neurons responsive to tactile stimuli, motor neurons, and sensory neurons sensitive to limb movement and position, respectively (Nakagawara, 2001).

Neurotrophins, particularly in sympathetic and sensory neurons, play a pivotal role in neuronal survival, and the first neurotrophin-activated signaling protein shown to mediate the survival of these neurons was the small GTP-binding protein Ras, which operates by translating and directing signals initiated by neurotrophins into multiple signaling pathways (Kaplan & Miller, 2000). Comparable to numerous other receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), Trk receptors initiate classical signaling pathways, including PLC_γ, PI3K, and Ras/MAPK (Patapoutian & Reichardt, 2001). Upon ligand binding, Trk receptors undergo dimerization and

autophosphorylation, activating downstream signaling cascades that encompass the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathways (Maruyama, 2014). Activation of these pathways also triggers myriad downstream events, encompassing local signaling to the cytoskeleton, leading to axon branching and inducing transcriptional changes (Barford *et al.*, 2017). Like other tyrosine kinase receptors, the aggregation and tyrosine cross-phosphorylation of Trk receptors are essential for initiating neurotrophin responses (Heumann, 1994). Due to their relevance in neurodegenerative conditions, Trk receptors have been extensively investigated for their responsiveness to neurotrophins in specific groups of central nervous system neurons, such as cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain and hippocampal neurons (associated with Alzheimer's disease), midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Linked to Parkinson's disease), and spinal and brain stem motor neurons (related to Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis) (Snider, 1994).

1.3 Introduction to p75 Neurotrophin Receptor (p75^{NTR})

p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75^{NTR}), also known as tumor necrosis factor superfamily receptor 16 (TNFSR16), is a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily that includes the Fas (CD95) antigen, CD30, and CD40 (Dechant & Barde, 2002; Simi & Ibáñez, 2010; Zampieri *et al.*, 2005). P75^{NTR} is a pleiotropic receptor playing a crucial role in a myriad range of biological processes such as cell differentiation and growth, scar formation and regeneration, fibrinolysis and tissue fibrosis, obesity and insulin resistance, hypoxia, and various nervous system pathologies, including retinal injuries, Multiple Sclerosis and spinal cord injury, cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and ALS (Malik *et al.*, 2021). P75^{NTR} is the first discovered member of the superfamily, and it serves as a noncatalytic receptor that has demonstrated the capability to bind each of the neurotrophins with roughly equivalent nanomolar affinity (D. Skaper, 2011; Simi & Ibáñez, 2010). Both p75NTR and Trk receptors have been shown to bind to neurotrophins individually, prompting independent signaling events. Nevertheless, enhanced trophic signaling has been observed due to the p75^{NTR} interaction mediating at least a 10-fold higher affinity of the Trk receptors for its cognate neurotrophins (Conroy & Coulson, 2022). A mature form of p75^{NTR} (full-length p75^{NTR}) is of 75-kDa, whereas an immature under-glycosylated form at 45 kDa, a cytoplasmic fragment (p75^{NTR} CTF) at ~24 kDa, and an intracellular fragment (p75-ICD) at ~19 kDa has been confirmed from immunoblotting results with an antibody directed against the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor (Zampieri *et al.*, 2005).

During development, roughly 50% of the neurons in the central and peripheral nervous systems ultimately degenerate and die due to the occurrence of a cascade of cellular and molecular events (Oppenheim, 1991). P75^{NTR} has been indicated to play a crucial role in regulating neuronal survival, as well as neuronal apoptosis (Bamji *et al.*, 1998). The best-characterized functions of p75^{NTR} include effects on cell survival, apoptosis, and axonal growth, particularly in the neurons of the peripheral and central nervous system; moreover, its well-defined function, including mediation of apoptotic response to high doses of neurotrophins or low doses of pro neurotrophins (Cragnolini & Friedman, 2008). It is widely known that A β can bind to the extracellular domain of p75^{NTR}, and research indicates p75^{NTR} positive neurites are located in the center of compact senile plaques, therefore advocating the receptor's involvement in the initiation and development of A β in the brain (Zhou & Wang, 2011).

p75^{NTR} is widely expressed in the developing nervous system throughout the brain, in the dorsal root ganglia, and Auerbach's plexus of the enteric nervous system, and within the spinal cord, as well as in several non-neural tissues such as glomeruli of the kidney, along nerve fiber

bundles, and muscle anlagen (Ernfors *et al.*, 1991). During development, elevated levels of p75^{NTR} have been detected in numerous central nervous systems, such as spinal motor neurons, brain stem motor nuclei, lateral geniculate nucleus, thalamic nuclei layer, amygdala, cortical subplate neurons, olivary pretectal nucleus, cuneate nucleus, the external granule layer, and deep nuclei of the cerebellum (Barker, 1998). Very High levels of p75^{NTR} expression in motoneurons have been observed during embryonic development, whereas constant reduction of these levels is seen during the early postnatal period (Wiese *et al.*, 1999). p75^{NTR} is also expressed by neurons of the peripheral and central nervous systems, Schwann cells, and various glial cell populations such as oligodendrocytes, microglia, astrocytes, and olfactory ensheathing cells (OECs) (Cragnolini & Friedman, 2008). In the adult nervous system, p75^{NTR} is highly downregulated. In contrast, the expression of the receptor increases drastically in both the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and the central nervous system (CNS) following injury or disease (Meeker & Williams, 2015). In addition, there is a strong upregulation of p75^{NTR} in many neurons and glial cells following injury (Kraemer, Yoon, *et al.*, 2014).

Besides neuronal survival and cell death, widely evident physiological roles of the p75^{NTR} include modulation of neurotrophic responses through the collaboration with Trk receptors. For instance, p75^{NTR} has been recognized to increase TrkA's ability to bind and respond to low NGF levels (Barker, 1998). Assorted studies have indicated that numerous cell populations express Trk receptors without p75^{NTR}. Nonetheless, most cells that express p75^{NTR} also express TrkA, TrkB, or TrkC, further suggesting p75^{NTR} functions by modulating Trk activation (Bothwell, 1995). Previous research has established that altered expression of p75^{NTR} may lead to compromised high-affinity NGF binding of the TrkA receptor (Benedetti *et al.*, 1993). p75NTR promotes TrkA signaling through NGF and inhibits TrkA binding with NT-3.

Nevertheless, the downregulation of p75^{NTR} contributes to TrkA signaling through NT-3 (Benedetti *et al.*, 1993). Moreover, TrkB has the ability to bind to BDNF, NT-3, and NT-4/5, but in the presence of p75^{NTR}, functional response is mediated only through BDNF binding (Bibel, 1999). Although studies suggest the interaction of p75^{NTR}-ECD with NGF and Trk receptors forming a complex, mounting evidence indicates that the Chopper domain of p75^{NTR} is sufficient to promote TrkA and TrkB trophic activity (Conroy & Coulson, 2022). Studies suggested that p75NTR in its monomeric form induces apoptotic induction. However, this effect is barred through dimerization and higher-order receptor multimerization (Wang *et al.*, 2000).

Similar to TNF and Fas receptors, the general assumption remained that p75NTR mediates cell death. However, various experiments have confirmed a different apoptotic signaling pathway by p75^{NTR} (FLee *et al.*, 2001). Sortilin, a member of the Vps10p family, recognized as a sorting receptor, has been implicated in binding pro-NGF molecules with high-affinity (Bronfman & Fainzilber, 2004). The pro-forms of neurotrophins typically induce neuronal apoptosis during development, as well as under pathological conditions or aging, and sortilin has been recognized to bind to the pro-form of NGF and other precursor neurotrophins inducing cell death due to acute or chronic distress of the nervous system (Nykjaer & Willnow, 2012). One-way p75^{NTR} signals apoptosis is through the simultaneous interaction with pro-NGF and sortilin, and proNGF-induced p75^{NTR}-mediated pro-apoptotic signal is governed by sortilin acting as a co-receptor of p75^{NTR} (Nykjaer *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1.2 Schematic Representation of p75^{NTR} and its Co-Receptors.

p75^{NTR} can interact with all of the Trk receptors and sortilin. NTs' interaction with p75^{NTR} and Trk receptors induces pro-survival signaling, whereas pro-NTs interact with p75^{NTR} and sortilin, inducing pro-apoptotic signaling.

1.4 Structure of p75^{NTR}

The p75^{NTR} was the first identified member of the TNF receptor superfamily, and the distinguishing feature is the presence of tandem arrays of an extracellular motif containing six cysteines and functions as the ligand binding domain (Barker, 1998). Similar to its family of receptors, p75^{NTR} contains a negatively charged four-repeat cysteine-rich extracellular domain, a stalk domain, a single-span helical transmembrane domain, and a noncatalytic cytoplasmic domain consisting of the juxta-membrane domain and a death domain which is highly conserved among species (Dechant & Barde, 2002; Yano & Chao, 2000). The interaction between neurotrophins and p75^{NTR} occurs through the extracellular region's four-repeat cysteine-rich domain (CRD) (Baldwin & Shooter, 1995; Shamovsky *et al.*, 2008a). Besides increasing ligand-receptor selectivity, the p75NTR intracellular domain consists of a death domain similar in sequence to the intracellular domains of the Fas and p55 TNF receptors (Lee *et al.*, 2001). Two

novel genes encode proteins that exhibit considerable sequence homology to p75^{NTR} in both cytoplasmic and transmembrane domains, establishing a gene subfamily referred to as neurotrophin receptor homolog 1 (NTH1) and NRH3 (Hutson & Bothwell, 2001).

The primary structure of the extracellular domain of human p75^{NTR} is highly homologous to that of the mouse. All fragments of the ECD domain have a 100% homology with the amino acid sequences of the mouse p75^{NTR}-ECD, except for the fragment containing amino acid sequences 115-122, only differing in two amino acid substitutions (Bobkova et al., 2015). Available evidence implicates areas close to residues Trp 21, Val 22, and residues 25-33 are determinants of the receptor-binding with NGF. Moreover, charged residues Asp 30-Lys 34 that are close to and around the NGF β -hairpin loop 1 may have a role in binding to the acidic p75^{NTR} (McDonald *et al.*, 1991). Experimental results confirmed that residues with a positively charged side chain (25-36) within the NGF β -hairpin loop 1 make contact between NGF and p75^{NTR} and are crucial for the stability, receptor binding, and biological activity of the NGF molecule (Ibáñez et al., 1992). Data obtained through the NMR structure of the p75NTR transmembrane domain indicate that this domain constitutes an alpha helix dimer, where the Cys257-Cys257 disulfide bond drives the dimerization, thus stabilizing weak p75^{NTR} transmembrane dimers (Nadezhdin *et al.*, 2016). The cytoplasmic domain of the p75^{NTR} contains the chopper domain (residues 277-308), a linker region (309-338), and a death domain (DD) (residues 339-417) (Goncharuk et al., 2020) (Figure 3). The extracellular, transmembrane, and intracellular regions of human p75NTR are completely homologous to that of chick and rat; thus, this degree of conservation suggests that these domains possibly play important roles in the p75^{NTR} function (Barker, 1998).

Even though active NGF is characterized by a homodimeric structure containing two potential binding sites, structural evidence suggests its exclusive interaction with only one p75^{NTR} molecule, consequently prohibiting the binding of another. The 2:1 NGF/p75^{NTR} complex is tethered together through two spatially separated binding epitopes where the site I epitope is formed between the first and second CRDs of p75^{NTR} and the top end of the NGF dimer. In contrast, the site II epitope forms the bottom end of the NFG dimer and the junction between the CRD3 and CRD4 regions of the p75^{NTR} extracellular domain (He & Garcia, 2004). The Crystal structure of P75^{NTR} with NGF and NT-3 study suggests the formation of a dimeric complex resulting in a 2:2 ligand-receptor stoichiometry, the native and common mode of ligand binding to glycosylated p75^{NTR}, whereas 2:1 complex formation is the result of artificial receptor deglycosylation (Gong et al., 2008). All four cysteine repeats of p75^{NTR} have been implicated to be required for binding with the neurotrophins, the second CRD repeat was found to play the most direct and critical role (Baldwin & Shooter, 1995). Amino acid residues in the β-hairpin loop 30-34 in NGF were found to participate in p75^{NTR} binding, where Lys32 makes the strongest contact. Additionally, results confirmed that NGF residues in regions 25-36 are involved in the stability and receptor binding (Ibáñez et al., 1992).



Figure 1.3 Graphical Table Representing p75^{NTR} Structure.

The table presents the receptor's various domains and their available crystal structures in PDB. The stalk domain and the juxtamembrane domain do not possess available structures.

1.5 Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis (RIP) of p75^{NTR}

Numerous essential membrane glycoproteins undergo proteolytic cleavage of the

extracellular domain, releasing them from the cell surface into the extracellular fluid (Zhao et al.,

2001). Metalloproteases release several cell surface proteins in response to phorbol ester stimulation, and P75^{NTR} also goes through ectodomain shedding, similar to other receptors such as the p55 TNF receptor and interleukin-6 receptor, and several other proteins, including the amyloid precursor protein, Notch, and Delta (Weskamp et al., 2004). P75^{NTR} undergoes proteolytic processing due to the sequential action of α -secretase and γ -secretase, generating soluble ICD fragments (Kanning *et al.*, 2003). ADAM17, or α -secretase, is a prototypical member of a disintegrin and metalloproteinase family of metzincin proteases, which primarily functions to "shed" cell surface-bound molecules such as EFG receptor ligands, or TNFa (Stawikowska et al., 2013). The cleavage of p75^{NTR} by the metalloproteinase, TACE/ADAM17, produces a soluble extracellular domain, the carboxyl-terminal fragment (CTF), and the released CTF is further processed by gamma-secretase within the transmembrane domain, to release the intracellular domain (ICD) into the cytosol (Kanning *et al.*, 2003). γ -secretase is a large protein complex with an unusual aspartyl protease activity that cleaves various substrates within the transmembrane domain, including APP, Notch, and ErbB4 (Jung et al., 2003). Presenilindependent gamma-secretase activity has been shown to be responsible for the intramembrane proteolysis of p75^{NTR}, playing a role in the formation or disassembly of p75^{NTR} and Trk receptor complex (Jung et al., 2003).

Study analysis identified that a 15-amino acid region of p75^{NTR} is sufficient for inducing α -secretase cleavage, and this cleavage is required for the subsequent γ -secretase cleavage (Zampieri *et al.*, 2005). The study indicated that TACE-induced RIP of p75^{NTR} along with NgR fragmentation suppresses Rho-A activation and EGFR phosphorylation and the ECD fragments acting as inhibitory signaling antagonists, consequently, p75ECD competitively blocking NgR/p75^{NTR} clustering (Ahmed *et al.*, 2006). P75^{NTR} has been suggested as a co-receptor of

Nogo-66 receptor (NgR), a leucine-rich repeat (LRR) protein containing eight LRRs flanked by cysteine-rich regions, that has been found to bind to three characterized proteins: Nogo, MAG, and OMgp promoting axonal growth cone collapse, and studies have demonstrated p75^{NTR} fraction associated with NgR (McGee & Strittmatter, 2003). In sympathetic neurons, BDNF binding to p75^{NTR} has been proposed to be necessary and sufficient to up-regulate the metalloprotease TACE/ADAM17, resulting in ectodomain shedding of the receptor and, subsequently, by the gamma-secretase releasing p75^{NTR}-ICD which then triggers the activation of JNK3, ultimately resulting in cell death (Kenchappa *et al.*, 2010).

1.6 Intracellular p75^{NTR} Interactors

Diverse effects exerted by p75^{NTR} occur due to the activation of several signaling pathways such as Ras homolog gene family, member A (RhoA), Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB), which occurs due to direct association of upstream proteins with p75^{NTR} intracellular domain (Verbeke *et al.*, 2013). Numerous adaptor proteins have been reported to bind to p75^{NTR}. Three different proteins, NRIF, NADE, and NRAGE, have been indicated to influence apoptosis in immortalized cell lines, whereas other proteins such as RhoA GTPase, Schwann cell factor-1 (SC-1), and NRAGE influence neurite elongation and growth arrest (Lee *et al.*, 2001). The CTF fragment of p75^{NTR} is deemed as a transitional product that is converted to the soluble ICD fragments, able to activate various signaling pathways promoting cell survival, cell death, or even cell invasion (Verbeke *et al.*, 2013). Numerous studies have suggested dimerization of p75^{NTR}. However, a recent study found no interaction between the death domains (DDs) of p75^{NTR}. This interaction causing dimerization of p75^{NTR} probably occurs due to helper proteins and ligand binding in the complex of two p75NTR molecules, releasing the "helper" and eventually restoring the ability of p75^{NTR} dimer to interact with adapter proteins (Goncharuk *et al.*, 2020). P75^{NTR} interaction with NGF has been suggested to trigger NF-kB, activate JNK, and release ceramide, and in some systems, apoptotic signaling induced by p75^{NTR} is dependent on NGF binding (X. Wang *et al.*, 2001).

p75^{NTR} ICD has been shown to induce signaling to regulate several cell-type-specific physiological functions. In cerebellar granular neurons, the ICD has been shown to inhibit MAG (myelin-associated glycoprotein)-induced cell death; it mediates proapoptotic ligand-induced cell death in sympathetic neurons and also mediates neuronal cell survival interacting with Trk receptors (McGee & Strittmatter, 2003). The intracellular domain of p75^{NTR} has been reported to bind to several proteins such SC-1, NRIF, NADE, ERKs, FAP-1, caveolin-1, NRAGE, and the GTPase RhoA (X. Wang *et al.*, 2001). In general, nine proteins have been identified to be able to interact with the intracellular domain of P75^{NTR}. However, NADE is the only protein that has been shown to interact with the death domain of the receptor-initiating cell death (Goncharuk *et al.*, 2020). Furthermore, the Ran-binding protein (RanBPM), has also been recognized to interact with the cytoplasmic domain of p75NTR, triggering apoptosis (Bai *et al.*, 2003).

1.7 Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD), first described by Dr. James Parkinson in 1817 as a "shaking palsy", is a chronic, progressive neurodegenerative disease defined by both motor and nonmotor features (DeMaagd & Philip, 2015). PD is recognized as the second most common neurological disorder characterized by a progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) in the midbrain (Emamzadeh & Surguchov, 2018) (Figure 1.4). Furthermore, the aggregation of α -Synuclein and the formation of Lewy-body are recognized as the primary pathogenic mechanisms underlying all cases of Parkinson's Disease (Bloem *et al.*, 2021; Spillantini *et al.*, 1997). The majority of PD cases are sporadic, with less than 10% having a

distinct familial origin (De Lau & Breteler, 2006; Thomas & Beal, 2007). To date, genetic studies have associated parkinsonism with proteins involved in lipid and vesicle dynamics (a-Synuclein), the ubiquitin-proteasome system (parkin and UCHL1), MAPKKK signaling (LRRK3), oxidative stress and mitochondrial function (DJ1, PINK1, parkin), and microtubule stability (tau) (Farrer, 2006). Toxic pesticide exposure has also been associated with PD, with specific compounds commonly used as pesticides such as rotenone, paraquat, and the combination of paraquat with maneb or other dithiocarbamates have shown to induce dopaminergic degeneration in the substantia nigra, and motor abnormalities in experimental animals at high doses (Ascherio et al., 2006). Moreover, severe parkinsonism has been associated with 1-Methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), a commercially available compound that is also a by-product in the synthesis of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-4-pro-pionoxypiperidine (MPPP), a meperidine analog (Langston et al., 1983). Recent findings suggest that the overall prevalence of Parkinson's disease was 572 per 100,000 among persons ages 45 and older, with a notably higher incidence observed among males (Willis et al., 2022). In addition to presenting significant health challenges to an individual, PD contributes substantially to the financial strain, incorporating both direct medical and indirect non-medical expenses. In 2017, the comprehensive economic burden of PD in the U.S. amounted to \$51.9 billion, comprising \$25.4 billion in direct medical costs and \$26.5 billion in indirect and non-medical costs, and is predicted to grow to approximately \$79.1 billion by 2037, primarily due to the increasing aging population (W. Yang et al., 2020).



Figure 1.4 Representation of Healthy Brain vs. Parkinson's Patient's Brain.

The figure shows Substantia nigra (SNc) consisting of dopaminergic neurons in a healthy vs Parkinson's brain. The dopaminergic neurons have their cell body in the SNc and project to the striatum, where dopamine is released.

Parkinson's disease is linked to a range of motor symptoms, including tremor, rigidity, akinesia or bradykinesia, and postural instability, along with a spectrum of non-motor symptoms, including but not limited to depression, anxiety, fatigue, hyposmia (lack of smell), rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder, constipation, urinary urgency, cognitive impairment, and dementia (Connolly & Lang, 2014; Patel & Chang, 2015). Typically, the emergence of PD is subtle, characterized by an asymmetrical and progressively advancing onset, as neuronal dysfunction and cell loss lead to a significant depletion of dopamine in the striatum, a pivotal component of the basal ganglia that is crucial for the initiation and regulation of movement (Farrer, 2006). The onset of PD motor symptoms typically begins in one limb segment due to the

decrease in dopamine concentrations below 60-70% in the contralateral striatum, leading to features like akinesia, bradykinesia, rigidity, and tremor, primarily attributed to dysfunction in the motor circuit associated with dopamine loss in the posterior putamen (Rodriguez-Oroz *et al.*, 2009). The distinctive motor symptoms of PD are also linked to the loss of pigmented cells in the substantia nigra, a nucleus situated in the ventral midbrain, and a decrease of the neurotransmitter dopamine in the striatum. This neuronal loss is believed to be influenced by the action of free radicals and environmental factors (Dawbarn & Allen, 2003).

In Parkinson's disease, neuronal degeneration initiates in dopaminergic terminals and advances towards the soma; early stages are characterized by a rapid decline in the terminals within the striatum, whereas the neuromelanin-laden dopamine neuron in SN exhibits variable density initially, transitioning to gradual and less variable loss in advanced stages (Furukawa *et al.*, 2022). The dendrites of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons possess the ability to synthesize, store, and release DA, and several neuronal pathways projecting to the SN influence directly or indirectly, through local microcircuits, the release of DA from the dendrite (Cheramy *et al.*, 1981). Consequently, the degeneration of neuromelanin-laden dopamine neurons in the SN might be associated with motor deterioration in advanced stages of PD (Furukawa *et al.*, 2022). Immunohistochemical analysis has revealed the presence of neurotrophins and their receptors in a substantial number of substantia nigra neurons. Nonetheless, diminished levels of NGF and BDNF, as well as GDNF and CNTF, have been observed in SNCs affected by PD (Kruttgen *et al.*, 2003; Siegel & Chauhan, 2000).

The pathology in PD is widespread, affecting both the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS), involving well-documented neuronal loss in the SNc, locus coeruleus (LC), and the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMV), while Lewy pathology (LP) is

observed in various peripheral neurons; notable losses in the norepinephrine (NE) neurons innervating the heart and skin, and dopamine (DA) neurons of the enteric nervous system (ENS) which may contribute to common symptoms such as orthostatic hypotension, sweating (hyperhidrosis), and constipation (Sulzer & Surmeier, 2013). Various mechanisms, including oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, protein aggregation and misfolding, inflammation, excitotoxicity, apoptosis and other cell death pathways, and loss of trophic support, have been implicated as essential in PD pathogenesis. Nevertheless, no single mechanism appears to be universally primary in all cases of PD (Yacoubian & Standaert, 2009). Moreover, inflammation also appears to play a crucial role in the pathophysiological pathway of PD, with microglial activation contributing to neuroinflammation, subsequently leading to the expression of cytokines IL-1 α , IL2, IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, TGF- β , and IFN γ which have been implicated in the degeneration of DA neurons in the Substantia Nigra Pars Compacta (Marogianni et al., 2020). A profound understanding of the mechanisms contributing to the emergence and advancement of PD pathology is crucial for developing neuroprotective therapies (Yacoubian & Standaert, 2009). However, no established therapies currently modify the disease or provide neuroprotection for PD (Connolly & Lang, 2014).

Swedish pharmacologist Arvid Carlsson made a groundbreaking revelation demonstrating that dopamine serves as a neurotransmitter capable of regulating movement during his investigation of a novel drug known as reserpine, introduced in the mid-1950s for treating schizophrenia but associated with notable side effects such as parkinsonian symptoms, (Abbott, 2010). Following the 1960 revelation by Ehringer and Hornykiewicz, who pinpointed a substantial deficit of dopamine in the caudate nucleus and putamen while analyzing post-mortem brains of PD patients, thus Levodopa (L-DOPA) was employed for the initial treatment of

parkinsonism (Riederer & Horowski, 2023; Tolosa *et al.*, 1998). While L-DOPA attained the gold standard of anti-Parkinsonian treatment due to its ability to replenish deficient dopamine levels in the brain, it suffered from various disadvantages including a notably brief half-life, variable bioavailability through various metabolic pathways, early adverse effects like nausea, vomiting, and orthostatic hypotension, early morning akinesia, the emergence of motor fluctuations manifesting as wearing off and on-off phenomenon, as well as a heightened risk of dyskinesias leading to the appearance of motor complications (peak-dose dyskinesias) in later stage (Riederer & Horowski, 2023).

Levodopa undergoes metabolism via four major pathways: decarboxylation, Omethylation, transamination, and oxidation, while the predominant route for levodopa metabolism involves the decarboxylation of L-DOPA by aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AAAD) (or levodopa decarboxylase) (Nutl & Fellman, 1984; Patel & Chang, 2015). Due to extensive first-pass metabolism and rapid plasma clearance by decarboxylation to dopamine, a mere 1% of an orally administered dose of levodopa enters the brain (Abbott, 2010; Hauser, 2009). Additionally, as dopamine cannot traverse the blood-brain barrier, the formulation of levodopa, in conjunction with one of two decarboxylase inhibitors, carbidopa or benserazide, is employed to reduce side effects and enhance the delivery of dopamine to the brain (Patel & Chang, 2015). Levodopa and its various formulations, synthetic dopamine agonists, monoamine oxidase-type B inhibitors, anticholinergics, and amantadine can serve as primary medications, either individually or in combination, for the initial treatment of PD (Fang & Tolleson, 2017).

Stereotactic procedures for alleviating different types of tremors seem to involve ventralis intermedius (VIM) thalamotomy predominantly (Benabid *et al.*, 1987). Thus, another treatment modality to alleviate motor symptoms in PD involves surgical intervention, such as deep brain

stimulation (DBS), which entails the implantation of programmable multi-contact electrodes into precise anatomical targets "deep" within the brain (Fang & Tolleson, 2017). While subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation (STN DBS) or conventional deep brain stimulation (cDBS) effectively ameliorates motor symptoms in PD patients, it has limitations, including stimulationinduced side effects like dysarthria, imbalance, and dyskinesia. Consequently, these challenges have spurred the development and sparked growing scientific interest in closed-loop, responsive, or adaptive deep brain stimulation (aDBS) (Habets et al., 2018). In the context of DBS, evidence suggests an intervention-related decrease in impulse control, potentially influenced by surgical procedures and/or chronic stimulation (Janssen et al., 2014). The study also affirms that STN DBS does not appear to alter or prevent cognitive decline over the course of the disease (Janssen et al., 2014; Zangaglia et al., 2012). Disease-modifying treatments for PD aim to impede or arrest the neurodegenerative process by safeguarding and maintaining the remaining DAproducing neurons in the brain (Nakmode et al., 2023). Nonetheless, there is no definitive cure for PD; the existing treatment for PD only offers symptomatic relief, and none have been proven to rescue or regenerate damaged neurons (Sidorova et al., 2019), nor to reduce or prevent the disease's progression (Nakmode et al., 2023). Some of the major therapeutic challenges for PD include the development of disease-modifying treatments to impede or prevent neurodegenerative progression and the development of efficacious interventions for non-motor symptoms (Schapira et al., 2017).

1.8 Oxidative Stress

Oxidative Stress (OS) characterizes an imbalance between the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the biological system's detoxification capacity, resulting in a precarious state that contributes to cellular damage; in the brain, ROS primarily originates from

dopamine metabolism, mitochondrial dysfunction, and neuroinflammation (Dias et al., 2013). While oxygen is crucial for life, participating in signal transduction, gene transcription, and various cellular activities, it concurrently poses a deleterious effect on biomolecules in the form of free radicals and ROS (Singh et al., 2019). Various enzymes are acknowledged as potentially capable of generating ROS, with NADPH oxidase being considered one of the most significant among them (Genestra, 2007). Elevated concentrations of ROS prompt apoptotic cell death in diverse cell types, indicating that ROS play a role in cell death whenever they are produced within the apoptotic process (Genestra, 2007). While the adult human brain represents around 2% of the total body weight, it utilizes roughly 20% of the body's oxygen and glucose to generate energy in the form of ATP (Purdon & Rapoport, 2007). Hence, this organ is especially vulnerable to the repercussions of malfunction in mitochondrial energy metabolism and the resulting harmful transition. Furthermore, the catecholamine metabolism (CA) in catecholaminergic neurons serves as an additional source for ROS production (Meiser et al., 2013). Free radicals, characterized by at least one unpaired electron in their outermost shell, exhibit high reactivity. They include hydroxyl (OH), superoxide (O_2^{-}) , nitric oxide (NO·), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂·), peroxyl (ROO·), and lipid peroxyl (LOO·) (Chen *et al.*, 2012).

OS arises from an elevated presence of reactive free radicals, stemming either from an overproduction of these free radicals or a breakdown in mechanisms that regulate their accumulation (AlDakheel *et al.*, 2014; Yacoubian & Standaert, 2009). These mechanisms resulting in oxidative stress include depletion of antioxidants, defects in mitochondrial electron transport, neurotoxin exposure, and excessive oxidation of dopamine in patients given L-Dopa (Alam *et al.*, 1997). Recent studies continue to highlight the involvement of oxidative stress in the advancement of several neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's

diseases, glaucoma, and mitochondrial optic neuropathies (Xin *et al.*, 2022). Findings from clinical investigations, postmortem examinations, and animal model studies propose that the initiation and progression of PD involve mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, compromised proteasomal system, dysfunctional autophagy/mitophagy, and dysregulation of neuroinflammation (Xiao *et al.*, 2022). In both idiopathic and genetic cases of PD, oxidative stress serves as the shared fundamental molecular mechanism, triggering a cascade of molecular reactions that culminate in the selective death of neurons in the substantia nigra and their terminals in the striatum (Makletsova *et al.*, 2019). In post-mortem substantia nigra samples from individuals with PD, evidence of oxidative stress manifest through elevated malondialdehyde and lipid hydroperoxide formation, decreased levels of both reduced and total glutathione, heightened superoxide dismutase activity, increased iron levels with concurrent reduction in ferritin levels (Dexter *et al.*, 1991), as well as a decline in the activity of complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Dexter *et al.*, 1994).

Oxidant stress has been implicated in Parkinson's disease due to the convergence of four biochemical features--monoamine oxidase activity, autoxidation, accumulation of iron, and the presence of neuromelanin--around the primary site of cell death, notably affecting the dopaminergic neurons, particularly the pigmented ones in the substantia nigra (Fahn & Cohen, 1992). Monoamine oxidases (MAOs) function as oxidoreductases, deaminating catecholamines; in dopaminergic axons, MAO plays a role in retrieving released dopamine (DA) from the extracellular space, either recycling it into vesicles or degrading it (Graves *et al.*, 2020). Two key concepts outline the role of toxic oxygen species and oxidative stress in the degenerative mechanism leading to dopamine cell death in Parkinson's disease: (1) the metabolism of dopamine by MAO generates hydrogen peroxide, causing damage to neurons directly or through

subsequent conversion to hydroxyl radicals, and (2) excessive radical formation results from toxin action, exemplified by the mechanism of action of MPTP (Jenner & Jenner, 1991). Neurotoxicity induced by MPTP is primarily linked with a reduction in dopamine (DA) levels and a decrease in the activity of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH); concurrently, in the brain, MPTP undergoes conversion to the pyridine metabolite, 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP+) through the enzymatic action of monoamine oxidase B (Ali *et al.*, 1994). In aerobic conditions, the mitochondrial respiratory chain stands as one of the cell's most potent sources of free radicals, with enhanced production occurring through inhibition of complex I by rotenone or MPP+ and inhibition of complex III by antimycin A (Cleeter *et al.*, 1992). The production of oxygen-free radicals in MPTP toxicity is linked to altering the midpoint potential of a component within Complex I by MPP+, making it negative enough to interact with oxygen and generate the superoxide radical (Sriram *et al.*, 1997).

To gain deeper insights into the mechanisms associated with oxidative stress in neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease, laboratory experiments involve the use of various chemicals and drugs such as 6-Hydroxydopamine, Rotenone, MPTP, Paraquat (Klintworth *et al.*, 2007), 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) (Kraemer, Snow, *et al.*, 2014, p. 75), Hydrogen Peroxide (H₂O₂) and FeSO4 (Iron(II) sulfate) (Gambaro *et al.*, 2019). First documented in 1959, the neurotoxin 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), a structural analog of catecholamines, dopamine, and noradrenaline, has been pivotal in preclinical Parkinson's disease research due to its ability to induce toxic effects on catecholaminergic neurons (Simola *et al.*, 2007). HNE, identified as a lipid peroxidation adduct with physiological relevance to brain metabolism, stands out as one of the most cytotoxic products of lipid peroxidation (Castellani *et al.*, 2002). Studies have indicated the presence of lipid peroxidation adducts, specifically HNE and Nε-(carboxymethyl) lysine, within Lewy bodies in post-mortem PD brain tissue (Shichiri, 2014).

1.9 Small Molecule Modulator of p75^{NTR}, LM11A-31

LM11A-31, [IUPAC: (2S,3s)-2-Amino-3-methyl-*N*-[2-(morpholinyl)ethyl] pentatonic acid amide], an amino acid isoleucine derivative containing a morpholino group (Knowles *et al.*, 2013), identified as a drug-like compound, was discovered by virtual screening of a compound library mimicking NGF β -hairpin loop 1, a domain that interacts with p75^{NTR} (Massa *et al.*, 2006) (Figure 1.5). LM11A-31 is a water-soluble, non-peptide small-molecule modulator of p75^{NTR} (Simmons *et al.*, 2014), which is orally bioavailable, has high blood-brain barrier penetration, and is associated with no known side effects (Xie *et al.*, 2021). Furthermore, LM11A-31 has been found to compete with NGF and proNGF interaction with p75^{NTR} alone and not with TrkA, thus indicating this compound is a p75^{NTR}-specific modulator (Massa *et al.*, 2006).

LM11A-31 administration has been suggested to up-regulate survival signaling, whereas down-regulate p75^{NTR}-related degenerative signaling, consequently preventing neurodegeneration in in-vitro studies and animal models of multiple neurological diseases, including post-traumatic brain injury and Alzheimer's disease (Simmons *et al.*, 2016). LM11A-31 was found to inhibit pro-NGF binding and recruit survival adaptor to p75^{NTR}, interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK), consequently activating downstream AKT and NF-kB signaling (F. M. Longo & Massa, 2013). Studies indicated that p75^{NTR} signaling is modulated by LM11A-31 in a manner different from that of NGF, signifying a novel approach to targeting p75^{NTR} (Knowles *et al.*, 2013).


Figure 1.5 Structural Representation of NGF Loop 1 and LM11A-31.

LM11A-31 mimics loop 1 of NGF, which consists of amino acid residues 29-35 (amino acids: TDIKGKE), and this region interacts with p75^{NTR}.

In the context of Alzheimer's disease (AD), the compound substantially inhibited neurites and spine degeneration, reduced AD-associated forms of tau induced by A β , reduced A β -induced spino- and synaptotoxic Fyn kinase activities, and mitigated Rho-family GTPase and cofilin responses to A β (T. Yang, 2020). Similarly, in the case of the Huntington's Disease (HD) model, LM11A-31 mitigated intranuclear Htt aggregates and striatal DARPP-32 deficits, improved striatal cholinergic interneuron dendrite structure, reduced microglial activation, and prevented dendritic spine loss in striatum and hippocampus (Simmons *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, LM11A-31 inhibited proNGF binding to p75^{NTR}, promoted motor function, increased myelin sparing in a dose-dependent manner, and inhibited p75^{NTR}-mediated JNK3 activation after spinal cord injury (SCI) (Tep *et al.*, 2013).

1.10 Homology Modeling

Homology modeling, or comparative modeling, is a method of computational structure prediction used to determine 3D protein structure from its amino acid sequence based on its template with known 3D structure. It is considered the most accurate structure prediction method (Muhammed & Aki-Yalcin, 2019). Structural biology follows the sequence-structure-function paradigm, which states that protein structure is determined by its sequence, and structure determines its function (Koehler Leman et al., 2023), and thus homology modeling is based on the observation that proteins sharing amino acid sequence similarity/identity also share similar/identical structures (Gromiha et al., 2019). Homology modeling generates a structural model of a protein using evolutionary-related structures (templates) (Biasini *et al.*, 2014). It consists of four major steps, including fold assignment (identification of similarity between the target and its known template), sequence alignment between the target and the template sequences, building a model based on the above facts, and finally, predicting model errors (Webb & Sali, 2014). Homology modeling uses the following steps to obtain the 3D structure of a protein: (i) using the BLAST search to identify the proper template for the provided target sequence, (ii) aligning sequences, (iii) correcting alignment to ensure the arrangement of the conserved or functionally important residues, (iv) generating backbone, (v) modeling loop, (vi) modeling side chain using rotamer libraries, (vii) using energy minimization to optimize the model, and (viii) using stereochemical evaluation such as Ramachandran plot as well as favorable energies to validate the model (Gromiha et al., 2019).

SWISS-MODEL (http://swissmodel.epasy.org), the first fully automated protein homology modeling server, is one of the most widely used structure modeling servers in the world, currently generating over 3000 models a day (Waterhouse *et al.*, 2018). The modeling workflow in SWISS-MODEL consists of five major steps: 1) data input, where the target protein amino acid sequence is provided, either in FASTA or UniProtKB accession code; 2) template search, where evolutionary-related protein structures are searched against the SWISS-MODEL template library SMTL using the data provided in the previous step; 3) template selection, where various templates are provided and ranked according to the expected quality of the resulting models, as estimated by Global Model Quality Estimate (GMQE) and Quaternary Structure Quality Estimate (QSQE); 4) model building, a 3D protein model is generated for each selected template; and 5) model quality estimation, where QMEAN scoring function is used to quantify modeling errors, thereby estimating expected model accuracy (Waterhouse *et al.*, 2018). SWISS-MODEL server highlights a user-friendly web interface, providing reliably accurate models and the expected accuracy of all generated models in the form of a QMEAN score. Furthermore, CAMEO (Continuous Automated Model Evaluation) continuously monitors the overall accuracy of SWISS-MODEL (Biasini *et al.*, 2014).

1.11 Intrinsically Disordered Regions

Proteins possess specific functions due to their ability to uniquely fold into correct threedimensional structures, which was a long-standing belief, but multiple proteins are highly flexible or structurally disordered and aren't structured throughout their entire lengths (Uversky, 2013). Proteins vary tremendously in their structure, from securely folded single domains to highly flexible or disordered regions containing multiple domains, to disordered but compact, and to extremely extended, heterogeneous, unstructured states (Dyson & Wright, 2005). Intrinsically disordered protein (IDP) sequence is characterized by the combination of high net charge (causing strong electrostatic repulsion) and low mean hydrophobicity (causing low driving force for protein compaction). Comparison of ordered proteins and domains, IDPs/IDRs

(intrinsically disordered regions) revealed significantly lower numbers of order-promoting amino acids, such as Ile, Leu, Val, Trp, Tyr, Phe, Cys, and Asn, and substantially higher numbers of disorder-promoting amino acids, Ala, Arg, Gly, Gln, Ser, Glu, Lys, and Pro (Uversky, 2013). Similar to ordered/globular proteins, the same physical forces govern the structural organizations of IDPs/IDRs and from a genomic standpoint, multiple gene sequences have been shown to code for functional long amino acid sequences that could either attain a non-globular conformation or exist as IDPs/IDRs as unfolded entities in solution (Trivedi & Nagarajaram, 2022).

Studies have suggested that unstructured proteins/regions do not possess enzymatic activity. Their functions are linked to their structural disorder, which is divided into five broad classes, including entropic chains, molecular recognition, scavenging (storing and/or neutralizing small ligands), assembling (stabilizing and regulating large multiprotein complexes), and mediating regulatory posttranslational modification (such as phosphorylation or limited proteolysis) (Tompa, 2002). Functional elements of IDRs can be classified into three categories: 1) Short Linear Motifs (SLiMs), or MiniMotifs or Linear Motifs (LMs), which are 3-10—residue long peptide segments containing few highly conserved residues, 2) Molecular Recognition Features (MoRFs) that are 10-70-residue long peptide motifs and are capable of undergoing disorder-to-order transition upon binding with their partners and attain well-defined structures like α -helices (α -MoRFs), β -strands (β -MoRFs), γ -coils (γ -MoRFs), or a combination of all of these conformations (complex-MoRFs), and 3) Intrinsically Disordered Domains (IDDs) that contain long disordered regions (>20 residue) with conserved sequence and function are mostly involved in the DNA, RNA, and protein binding (Trivedi & Nagarajaram, 2022).

The intrinsic structural disorder can be detected using various experimental methods such as X-ray crystallography, nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), small-angle X-ray

scattering, circular dichroism, and Forster resonance energy transfer, each technique providing researchers a unique insight into the functional mechanisms of IDPs, such as their flexibility, folded-structure upon binding, and conformational heterogeneity. To assess IDP/IDR predictors, critical assessment of protein intrinsic disorder (CAID), a biennial experiment was organized, which represents a community-based effort to develop and implement evaluation strategies to assess (1) clear intrinsic structural disorder (ID) definition and (2) the performance of methods used in ID prediction (Necci *et al.*, 2021). Additionally, DisProt provides annotations of ~2400 IDPs/IDRs consisting of at least 10 residues with biological relevance and is considered the most comprehensive database of disordered proteins (Redl *et al.*, 2023). Various servers are available capable of predicting IDPs/IDRs computationally, each server possessing varied criteria for predicting order and disorder of structure in provided amino acid sequence, which includes PONDR (Predictor of Naturally Disordered Region), ADOPT (Attention-based DisOrder PredicTor), fLDpnn (putative function and linker-based Disorder Prediction using a deep neural network), and Albatross-colab/Metapredict.

PONDRs VLXT, VSL2, and VL3 are meta-predictors developed using combinations of individual predictors that are capable of predicting disordered proteins (Xue *et al.*, 2010). PONDR web server is available through "<u>www.pondr.com</u>," and it consists of various predictors, the most accurate of which is VL-XT, with a 78% success rate on predicting order and a 60% success rate on predicting disorder with a False Negative of 40% (predictor indicating "order" for known disordered regions), and False Positive of 22% (predictor indicating "disorder" for known ordered regions). ADOPT uses AI technology to accurately predict protein disorders from sequences alone. It is comprised of two blocks: a self-supervised encoder and a supervised disorder predictor. The process includes an encoder that uses information from a large sequences

database and generates feature information for every residue of the provided sequence. In contrast, a decoder predicts a disorder score utilizing the information the encoder provides (Redl *et al.*, 2023). FIDPnn is a computational tool that has been implicated in accurately predicting disorder (AUC=0.814) and the fully disordered proteins in CAID. Furthermore, it also provides putative functions for the disordered protein regions of the provided protein sequence involving the four most commonly annotated functions such as DNA-binding, RNA-binding, proteinbinding, and the linkers (Hu *et al.*, 2021). Lastly, Metapredict is a stand-alone web server capable of accurately reproducing consensus disorder scores for provided protein sequences. Additionally, it also offers a structural confidence score based on folding propensity derived through AlphaFlold2 predictions, providing per-residue predicted Local Distance Difference Test (pLDDT) scores (Emenecker *et al.*, 2021, 2022).

1.12 Ab-Initio Protein Structure Prediction

A protein spontaneously folds into its native structure due to the interplay of covalent bonds and numerous non-covalent inter-residue interactions such as hydrophobic effects, hydrogen bonds, van der Waals forces, and ionic bonds. Thus, a deep understanding of the protein folding process and the relationship between protein sequences and native structures are immensely important for accurately predicting protein structures (B. Huang *et al.*, 2023). Ab initio prediction is based on the 'thermodynamic hypothesis,' which states that the free energy at the global minimum contributes to the native structure of a protein that is thermodynamically stable in its normal physiological milieu. In a given environment, the native conformation of the protein is determined by all the inter-atomic interactions of the amino acid sequence (Anfinsen, 1973; Xia *et al.*, 2000). Ab initio modeling uses the guidance of the designed energy function to

conduct a conformational search. It generates multiple possible conformations (aka structure decoys), finally selecting the final models (J. Lee *et al.*, 2017).

Numerous methods for ab initio structure prediction are readily available, including I-TASSER, RosettaFold, AlphaFold, and phyre prediction. I-TASSER, an ab initio protein modeling server, provides significant accuracy and reliability in full-length structure prediction for protein targets compared with various useful online structure prediction tools. The methods applied by I-TAASSER can be divided into four general steps: 1) threading, a procedure for template protein identification of the query protein sequence using a similar structure or motif from structure databases, and the quality of the template alignments is based on the statistical significance of the best threading alignment, 2) structural assembly, where template structures are excised from the built models to produce continuous fragments in threading alignments, and structural conformations of the aligned with the unaligned regions are assembled, 3) model selection and refinement, a second iteration process to remove steric clashes and to refine the global topology of the cluster centroids to generate the final structural models through optimization of hydrogen bonding networks, and 4) structure-based functional annotation, where the predicted 3D models are structurally matched against the proteins of known structure and function in the PDB to infer the function of the query protein (Roy et al., 2010). I-TASSER constructs the final structural model from the low-energy conformations (J. Yang et al., 2015) and provides a final confidence score (C-score) for the models based on the Monte Carlo simulations structure convergence and the statistical significance of the PPA threading alignments (Zhang, 2008). On the other hand, AlphaFold utilizes neural network architectures and the evolutionary, physical, and geometric constraints of protein structures to predict the 3D model structure of the provided sequence accurately. AlphaFold also provides accurate end-to-

end structure prediction by using embedding multiple sequence alignments (MSAs) and pairwise features, and the final models are generated based on the confidence measure, the predicted local-distance difference test (pLDDT) (Jumper *et al.*, 2021).

1.13 Study Significance and Overarching Hypothesis

p75^{NTR} can bind with all of the neurotrophins and is involved in both pro-survival and pro-apoptotic signaling. Furthermore, the internalization of p75^{NTR} into early endosomes has been observed in PC12 cells due to NGF interaction (Saxena et al., 2005). Another study indicated that JNK activation and Rab5 and dynein promote the retrograde transport of the p75^{NTR}-endosome consisting of the full-length receptor (p75^{NTR}-FL) (Escudero et al., 2019). Our previous study demonstrated ligand-independent activation of p75^{NTR}, where oxidative stress activates JNK signaling, which promotes p75^{NTR} processing (Kraemer et al., 2021). However, the mechanism of proteolytic processing of the receptor induced by oxidative stress occurring in an endosome is poorly understood. Here, we report that receptor internalization is required for the proteolytic processing of p75^{NTR} in LUHMES cells following oxidative stress (Figure 1.6). Furthermore, our study regarding small molecule LM11A-31, modulation of p75^{NTR} demonstrates a shift of p75^{NTR}-related signaling towards pro-survival and attenuates neurite degeneration in oxidative-stress-induced neuronal cells. We hypothesize that Oxidative stress induces internalization of plasma membrane-localized p75^{NTR}, thereby leading to endosomal processing of the receptor and downstream regulation of neuronal survival.

Our Hypothesis



Figure 1.6 Schematic Representation of Our Hypothesis.

Elevated levels of ROS induce oxidative stress, which activates JNK signaling. JNK activation promotes the internalization of p75^{NTR}, further facilitating proteolytic processing of the receptor, consequently leading to neuronal cell death and degeneration.

Chapter 2. Experimental Procedures

2.1 Cell Culture

Lund human mesencephalic (LUHMES) cells (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA, RRID: CVCL B056) were cultured in 60 mm standard cell culture dishes (USA Scientific, Ocala, FL, USA), and in 8-well chambered slides (Lab-TekTM II, NuncTM Roskilde, Denmark) at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Dishes were coated with 100 µg/mL poly-L-ornithine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA Cat no: P3655) overnight and incubated with 2 µg/mL fibronectin (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no: F0895) for 3 hours at 37 °C, while the chambered slides were coated with 100 μ g/mL poly-Lornithine (Sigma-Aldrich) overnight and incubated for 3 hours at 37 °C with 2 µg/mL fibronectin (Sigma-Aldrich), 100 ng/mL poly-D-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no: P7280), and 10 µg/mL laminin (Corning, NY, USA Cat no: 354232) overnight. For cell proliferation, cells were incubated in a blend of growth medium containing Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium with Nutrient Mixture F-12 (DMEM/F12) (Gibco, Waltham, MA, USA Cat no: 11330057), 2 mM glutamine (VWR, Radnor, PA, Cat no: VWRL0131-0100), 1% (v/v) N-2 supplement (Gibco, Cat no: 17-502-048), and 40 ng/mL basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA Cat no: 233-FB). Cells received half-volume growth media change every other day. Once 60% cell confluency was reached, the cells were differentiated to postmitotic neurons by replacing the growth medium with differentiation media containing DMEM/F12 (Gibco), 2mM glutamine (VWR), 1% (V/v) N-2 supplement, 1 mM N6, 2'-O-Dibutyryladenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate (db-cAMP) (Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale,

NY, USA Cat no: BML-CN125-0100), 2 ng/mL glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (R&D Systems, Cat no: 212-GD-010), and 1 µg/mL tetracycline (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no: 87128-25G). A half-volume differentiation media change was performed every other day prior to the treatment. Cell stocks with passage numbers 5 or 6 were used for all the experiments performed to minimize and avoid genetic drift.

2.2 Cell Treatment

After 5 days of differentiation, LUHMES cells were exposed to the indicated concentrations of 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no: 162957), (2S,3S)-2-Amino-3-methyl-N-[2-(4-morpholinyl) ethyl] pentanamide dihydrochloride (LM11A-31 dihydrochloride) (TOCRIS, Cat no: 5046), Dynasore (Dynamin Inhibitor) (TOCRIS, Cat. No. 2897), or vehicle solution. Preparation of 6-OHDA solution was performed in cold phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) (corning, Cat no: 45000-448) containing 0.02% ascorbic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no: A5960), LM11A-31 solution was prepared in di-H₂0, and Dynasore was dissolved in DMSO (VWR, CAS: 67-68-5). 6-OHDA aliquots were prepared in 0.5 mL brown epi-tubes (Fisher Scientific) under inert gas to protect from light and were stored at -80 °C. LM11A-31 aliquots were prepared in 0.5 mL clear epi-tubes and stored in -20 °C. Dynasore aliquots were prepared in 0.5 ml brown epi-tubes to protect from light and were stored at -20 °C. To assess whether the modulation of p75^{NTR} attenuates cell survival in oxidative-stress-induced dopaminergic neurons, differentiated LUHMES cells were cultured in 8-well chambered slides (NuncTM) and co-treated with 10 nM or 1 nM LM11A-31 (TOCRIS) and 7.5 µM, or 5 µM 6-OHDA (Sigma-Aldrich), or vehicle solution for 24 hours. To determine whether LM11A-31 modulation of p75^{NTR} protects neurons from neurite degeneration, differentiated LUHMES cells were cultured in 8-well chambered slides (Lab-TekTM) and co-treated with 10 pM, or 1 pM

LM11A-31 (TOCRIS), and 5 μ M 6-OHDA (Sigma-Aldrich), or vehicle solution for 24 hours. To evaluate whether endocytosis (endosomal activity) is required for oxidative stress-induced processing of p75^{NTR}, differentiated LUHMES cells were cultured in 60 mm cell culture dishes (USA Scientific). They were treated with 80 nM Dynasore and 10 μ M 6-OHDA (Sigma-Aldrich) or vehicle solution for 18 hours.

2.3 Cell Viability Analysis

Eight-well-chambered slides (LabTek) were used to culture LUHMES cells and were differentiated for 5 days. The cells were then treated with 7.5 μ M, or 5 μ M 6-OHDA (Sigma-Aldrich), or vehicle solution, or co-treated with 10 nM, or 1 nM LM11A-31 (TOCRIS) and 7.5 μ M, or 5 μ M 6-OHDA (Sigma-Aldrich) for 24 hours. The slides were then fixed using a 4% PFA solution. Fixed slides were immunostained using TUJ1, an antibody specific for β III-tubulin, and further stained with DAPI (antibody specific for the Nucleus). The Zeiss LSM 800 confocal microscope system was used to capture images; five images per condition were captured. The nucleus was scored for cell viability to evaluate healthy versus dying cells regarding the appearance of nuclei. Fragmented cells, or cells with low nuclear area and chromatin condensation, were used as the scoring criteria for dying cells. To avoid biases, the obtained images were subjected to blinding (name/number change of the images to blind the treatment condition), and a blinded experimenter counted cells.

2.4 Immunostaining and Confocal Microscopy

Cultured LUHMES cells were differentiated for 5 days on 8-well-chambered slides (NuncTM). Treatments were performed as indicated, and 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) was used to fix the cells after 24 hours. The fixed cells were permeabilized using PBS containing 0.1%

TritonTM X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells were then blocked using PBS consisting of 0.1% TritonTM X-100 and 10% goat serum for one hour. Once blocking was completed, primary antibody (α -TUJ1) specific for β III-tubulin (Covance, Princeton, NJ: 1:500, RRID: AB-2313773) was applied and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Cells were then washed twice with PBS containing 0.1% TritonTM X-100, and two more times with PBS. Following washes, a secondary antibody coupled to Alexa Fluor 488 (Thermo Fisher Scientific; 1:1000. RRID: AB_142495) fluorophore was applied for 1.5 hours. The cells were washed four additional times with PBS. 5 µg/mL 4', 6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) in PBS was applied and incubated for 5 minutes, followed by three further washes with PBS. After the washes, Fluoromount-G® mounting media (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL, Cat no: 0100-01) was applied, and a coverslip (Fisher Scientific) was mounted over the slide. Zeiss LSM 800 confocal microscope system (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) and Zen 2 software (Zeiss) were used to capture 1024 x 1024 px images of TUJ1 and DAPI immunostained cells. Image J software was utilized to quantify neurite degeneration (Refer to Figure 7).

2.5 Immunoblotting Analyses

LUHMES cells were cultured in 60 mm cell culture dishes. Treatment was performed as indicated after five days of differentiation. Cells were lysed using Np40 Buffer supplemented with a PhosStop phosphatase inhibitor mixture tablet (Roche, Cat no: 4906837001) and a Complete Mini EDTA-free protease inhibitor mixture tablet (Roche, Basel, Switzerland, Cat no: 11836170001). The lysates were subjected to sonication and clarification. Bradford protein assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, CA, Cat no: 5000006) was performed to obtain the total protein concentrations of the samples. The lysates were then denatured using SDS sample buffer (58 mM tris-HCL, 60.10 mM sodium dodecyl sulfate, 100.5 mM dithiothreitol, and 29.85 π M

bromophenol blue) by incubation at 95 °C for 5 minutes. SDS/PAGE was used to separate proteins in the cell lysates, and the BioRad Mini Trans-Blot system was utilized to transfer proteins to the PVDF membrane (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no: ISEQ00010). The PVDF membrane was blocked in 0.5% milk in PBS supplemented with 1% Tween. Western Blot was performed using a primary antibody specific for the intracellular domain of p75^{NTR} (1:3000 ratio, as previously mentioned (Kraemer et al., 2021)), or TrkA (1:1000 ratio, cell signaling, Product No: 2505), or TrkB (1:1000 ratio, cell signaling, mAb#4603 2505), or TrkC (1:1000 ratio, cell signaling, mAb#3376), or Sortilin ((1:1000 ratio, cell signaling, Product No: 20681), and a peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA, RRID: AB-2307391). BioRad Chemidoc MP imaging system was used for visualization and image attainment of the blots subjected to enhanced chemiluminescent substrate (ECL substrate) (Thermo Fisher Scientific) or Femto Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Blots were stripped to remove primary and secondary antibodies through 10-minute incubation in Restore Western Blot Stripping Buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Cat no: PI21059). To verify equal protein loading, Immunoblotting was performed using an anti-β-actin antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, RRID: AB-2223041) and a peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Jackson Immunoresearch Labs, RRID: AB-2307392). The blots were then visualized as previously described. Image Lab Software Version 6.0.0 (Bio-Rad laboratories Inc.) was utilized to measure the band intensities, and values were normalized to actin levels.

2.6 Statistical Analyses

All quantitative data presented were box and whisker plots. The middle line in the Box and whisker plot represents the median, the boxes occupy the 25th-75th percentiles, and the whiskers indicate the 5th-95th percentiles. GraphPad Prism 8.3.0 was utilized to compare statistics

between groups. The Shapiro-Wilk test was performed to verify data normality. RM one-way ANOVA was used with Tukey's multiple comparisons test for normal datasets. Multiple comparison Friedman was used with Dunn's multiple comparisons test for datasets with non-normal distribution. p < 0.5 values for Statistical significance between groups were accepted, and no outliers were excluded.

2.7 Study Design and Ethical Statements

Ethical approval of the performed experiments was not required since this study did not involve using animals or samples from human patients. LUHMES cells fully differentiate into dopaminergic neurons after five days of differentiation and thus were used for all the experiments to model Parkinson's Disease. This cell line has not been listed as a commonly misidentified cell line by the International Cell Line Authentication Committee. The cells were purchased from a reputable vendor (ATCC, Manassas, VA), and the authenticity of the cells was further confirmed by evaluating the expression of the neuronal marker βIII-tubulin after maturation into post-mitotic neurons.

2.8 Homology Modeling

The p75^{NTR} (tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 16 precursor [Homo sapiens] sequence was obtained from the National Library of Medicine (NIH) (NCBI Reference Sequence: NP_002498.1) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/protein/NP_002498.1). To model the extracellular domain of Human p75NTR, amino acids 1-189 were used as the target sequence. The sequence was provided in the SWISS-MODEL web server accessible through (https://swissmodel.expasy.org/interactive). Then, the "search for templates" tool was utilized to generate available templates. Out of the 50 templates generated, four templates consisting of

over 90% sequence identity were chosen to build models. The templates used were as follows: 1. Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 16 isoform X2, AlphaFold DB model of organism *Trichechus manatus latirostris (Florida manatee)* (gene: LOC101358935) (PDB ID: A0A2Y9DNL7.1.A), 2. Nerve growth factor receptor (TNFR superfamily, member 16) (PDB ID: 3IJ2.1.B), Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 16 (PDB ID: 1SG1.1.C), and Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 16 (PDB ID: 1SG1.1.C), and superimpose the models generated by SWISS-MODEL.

2.9 IDR Prediction

The p75^{NTR} (tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 16 precursor [Homo sapiens] sequence was obtained from the National Library of Medicine (NIH) (NCBI Reference Sequence: NP 002498.1). The Stalk domain sequence of the p75^{NTR} receptor (aa: 189-240) was provided to various servers to predict disordered regions. Four various web servers were utilized to generate the data: 1. Predictor of Natural Disordered Regions (PONDR) web server accessible through (www.pondr.com), 2. Attention-based DisOrder PredicTor (ADOPT) web server accessible through (https://adopt.peptone.io), putative function- and linker-based Disorder Prediction using deep neural network (flDPnn), and 4. Metapredict, a deep-learning-based consensus predictor of intrinsic disorder and predicted structure, is accessible on a web server (https://metapredict.net/#). Similarly, to understand whether the juxta-membrane domain of p75^{NTR}, the region between the transmembrane domain and the death domain in the cytosol, consists of IDR, amino acid sequence from 260-360 was provided to the webservers mentioned above. Furthermore, sequences of the extracellular domain, transmembrane domain, and death domain, for which 3D structures are available, were used to back-test the capability of the servers to predict order in the protein regions.

2.10 Ab Initio Protein Modeling

The amino acid sequence of p75NTR was obtained in Fasta format through the NCBI protein database (NCBI Reference Sequence: NP_002498.1). The Uniprot database (Protein ID: P08138 – TNR16_Human) was utilized to identify the various domains of p75^{NTR} (Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 16). The stalk domain sequence (amino acid 193-247) was provided to various protein fold prediction web servers to model the stalk domain and the juxta-membrane domain of the p75NTR receptor. The web portals include: 1. I-TASSER (Protein Structure & Function Predictions), accessible through (https://zhanggroup.org/I-TASSER/), 2. Alphafold2, accessible via web address

(https://colab.research.google.com/github/sokrypton/ColabFold/blob/main/AlphaFold2.ipynb)

RoseTTAFold, accessible through

(https://colab.research.google.com/github/sokrypton/ColabFold/blob/main/RoseTTAFold.ipynb), and Phyre2, which can be accessed through (http://www.sbg.bio.ic.ac.uk/phyre2/). Each web server utilizes different scoring techniques to predict the structure of the provided amino acid sequence, and models were generated and ranked with the highest prediction score being the first model and so on. I-TASSER, AlphaFold, and RosettaFold provided 5 structural models The models generated using the above-mentioned web portals were downloaded in PDB Format, and PYMOL and/or MOE were used to evaluate the models.



Figure 2.1 Model System Demonstrating LUHMES Cells in Various Conditions.

A; Images representing undifferentiated LUHMES cells (left) or LUHMES cells cultured in differentiation medium for 5 days (right), B; Micrographs of differentiated LUHMES cells subjected to immunostaining for β-III tubulin (right) and nuclear labeling with DAPI (left), C; Phase contrast image representing differentiated LUHMES cells treated with vehicle (left), or differentiated LUHMES cells treated with 7.5 µM 6-OHDA, D; Micrographs of differentiated LUHMES cells treated with vehicle (left) or 7.5 µM 6-OHDA (right) subjected to immunostaining for β-III tubulin and nuclear labeling with DAPI.

Chapter 3. Results

3.1 Receptor Internalization Is Required for Oxidative Stress-Induced p75^{NTR}

Processing

Our previous study showed that JNK signaling is required for the cleavage of p75^{NTR} into its constituent fragments in response to oxidative stress in neuronal cells from the ventral mesencephalon (Kraemer et al., 2021). Furthermore, studies of other cell types have suggested that proteolytic processing of p75^{NTR} occurs in the endosome (C. Escudero et al., 2014; Zanin et al., 2019). The expression of p75^{NTR} in cultured LUHMES cells has been confirmed in our previous studies, with the protein located in regions closer to the axon hillock, soma, and distal neurites. Therefore, in the present study, we investigated whether endosomal activity is required for oxidative stress-induced cleavage of $p75^{NTR}$ in neuronal cells derived from the ventral mesencephalon. Lund Human Mesencephalic (LUHMES) cells derived from healthy, eightweek-old human mesencephalic tissue were used to conduct these investigations. These cells are a population of cells that were conditionally immortalized by introducing a tetracyclineresponsive v-myc gene (TET-off). LUHMES cells differentiate into mature, post-mitotic neurons after incubation in a differentiation medium containing tetracycline, cyclic AMP (cAMP), and glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Zhang et al., 2014). We cultured LUHMES cells in 60 mm dishes and transitioned them into differentiation media after reaching ~60% confluency. Phase contrast microscopy was used to analyze differentiated cell cultures for neurite growth to validate the maturation state of LUHMES cells (Figure 7). Five days of differentiation produced

uniform neurite growth among cell cultures Differentiated LUHMES cells were exposed to 6-OHDA (6-hydroxydopamine), a neurotoxin that has been shown to promote oxidative damage in catecholaminergic neurons and is frequently used to model Parkinson's disease. Exposure to 6-OHDA has been shown to induce proteolytic processing of $p75^{NTR}$ in cultured LUHMES cells (Kraemer *et al.*, 2021). Thus, cultures were treated with either 6-OHDA or vehicle for control, or cells exposed to 6-OHDA were co-treated for 18 hours with Dynasore (Dynamin inhibitor) to block the internalization of the $p75^{NTR}$ receptor into an endosome. The cells were then lysed and clarified, and immunoblotting was performed using an antibody specific to the intracellular domain of $p75^{NTR}$. Compared to lysates of cells treated with 6-OHDA alone, a significant decrease (p = 0.0226) of the p75NTR-C-terminal fragment (p75NTR-CTF) and p75NTRintracellular domain (p75NTR-ICD) (p = 0.0089), as well as recovery of full-length p75NTR (p = 0.0496), was detected in lysates of cells co-treated with Dynasore and 6-OHDA in comparison with 6-OHDA (n=7) (Figure 3.1). These data indicate that receptor internalization is required for oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} processing.



Figure 3.1 Receptor Internalization is Required for Oxidative Stress-Induced p75^{NTR} Processing.

A; Schematic diagram representing receptor fragments produced by regulated intramembrane proteolysis of p75^{NTR},
B; Differentiated LUHMES cells were treated with vehicle, 10 μM 6-OHDA (6OH), and 10 μM 6-OHDA +
Dynasore (Dyn+6OH), for 18 hours. Lysates were then subjected to western blot analysis using an antibody specific

for the p75^{NTR}-ICD. Immunoblotting for actin was performed as a loading control, **C**, **D** & **E**; Quantification results for p75^{NTR} full length (left), p75^{NTR} cytoplasmic fragment (middle), and p75^{NTR} intracellular fragment (right).

3.2 Pharmacological Modulation of p75^{NTR} Reduced Neurite Degeneration and Death Associated with Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is known to be one of the major factors responsible for the pathogenesis of almost all neurological disorders. It has been shown to promote alterations in biochemical and biomolecular components, eventually leading to various neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and Huntington's disease (Behl et al., 2021). Our previous study confirmed that 6-OHDA induces oxidative stress in neuronal cells, leading to neurite degeneration (Clements et al., 2022) and cell death (Kraemer, Snow, et al., 2014). LM11A-31, originally derived as a small, nonpeptide mimic of nerve growth factor (NGF), was found to have pro-survival effects by selectively inhibiting the binding of proNGF and NGF to p75NTR-at higher concentrations and induce p75^{NTR}-dependent NFKB and AKT activations. Furthermore, LM11A-31 stimulated proliferation, survival, and differentiation in Hippocampal NPC cultures (Shi et al., 2013). Recent studies have suggested a therapeutic role for the p75 neurotrophin receptor as proNGF/p75NTR modulation with a small molecule LM11A-31 was shown to improve stroke recovery, chronic brain metabolism, post-traumatic brain injury (Shi et al., 2013), and acute ischemic injury in mice (Nasoohi et al., 2023). Additionally, LM11A-31 exhibited favorable brain bioavailability and possessed neuroprotective effects in the APP mice model ((Knowles et al., 2013). Thus, to investigate whether modulating p75^{NTR} attenuates neurite degeneration and cell death associated with oxidative stress in LUHMES cells, we administered LM11A-31 in 6-OHDA exposed cultures. LUHMES cells cultured in 8-well chambered slides were treated with vehicle solution for control or 6-OHDA or co-treated with 6-OHDA and varying doses of LM11A-31 after full maturation to evaluate the effects of p75^{NTR} on cell survival and neurite degeneration. The cells were fixed 24 hours after

treatment and stained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole), a DNA-specific fluorescent probe capable of staining the nucleus (Kapuscinski, 1995), and TUJ1 (class III β -tubulin), a biological marker for neural differentiation (S. Lee *et al.*, 2005). Then, confocal microscopy was utilized to capture images of nuclei and neurites. The nuclei were then scored as healthy or dying to analyze cell survival using ImageJ software. Furthermore, neurite degeneration assay was performed using ImageJ software and an automated macroanalysis previously developed by our laboratory (Clements *et al.*, 2022). While 6-OHDA exposure led to cell death and neurite degeneration of over 50% of cultured neuronal cells, co-treatment with LM11A-31 resulted in a significant increase in cell survival (n = 7) and a reduction in neurite degeneration (n=3) (Figure 3.2). Our analyses revealed that p75^{NTR} is vital in regulating viability and neurite degeneration in neuronal cells subjected to oxidative damage.

As previously mentioned, oxidative stress induces the cleavage of the p75^{NTR} receptor in mesencephalic cells. To investigate whether LM11A-31 modulates p75^{NTR} in a manner that blocks the proteolytic processing of the receptor, cells were treated with vehicle, 6-OHDA, or 6-OHDA and LM11A-31, and lysates were subjected to immunoblotting to measure p75^{NTR} fragments. Despite some variability, our preliminary result indicated that LM11A-31 reduces oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} processing since we have observed a general trend in which there is recovery of p75^{NTR} full-length. In contrast, a decrease in p75^{NTR} fragments was observed (Figure 9). Furthermore, our analyses also revealed a dose-dependent effect of LM11A-31 where 20 nM concentration showed a greater effect than 2 nM than 200pM than 20pM in attenuating cell survival and neurite degeneration in LUHMES cells. Interestingly, our experiments using a 100nM concentration of LM11A-31 did not show higher protection than a 20nM concentration. Thus, these results revealed that p75^{NTR} regulates the survival of neuronal cells derived from

mesencephalon, and our immunoblotting results suggest the role of proteolytic processing of the receptor in cell survival.



Figure 3.2 Pharmacological Modulation of p75^{NTR} Reduced Neurite Degeneration and Death Associated with Oxidative Stress.

A; Differentiated LUHMES cells were treated with vehicle solution, 5 μM 6-OHDA, or 5 μM 6-OHDA and 10 nM LM11A-31 for 24 hours. Fixed cells were then stained with DAPI and TUJ1, then image captured, and scored for pyknotic nuclei, B; Quantification of cells treated and assessed as described in 'A.' C-D: Differentiated LUHMES cells were treated with vehicle solution, 5 μM 6-OHDA, or 5 μM 6-OHDA and 0.1 nM LM11A-31. Micrographs of the cultures were then assessed for neurite degeneration using the ANDI macro for ImageJ, as previously described (clements *et al.*, 2022). C; Representative images featuring soma removal, binarization, and highlighting of neurite fragments in red, D; Degeneration Index Quantification. E; Schematic representation of p75^{NTR} fragments. F; Immunoblotting result of p75^{NTR} fragments in 1 nM and 20 nM LM11A-31 treated cells.

3.3 Differentiated LUHMES Cells Express Sortilin and TrkA but Lack TrkB and TrkC

p75^{NTR} interacts with all of the neurotrophins and has been shown to influence cellular signaling by interacting with multiple coreceptors, including tropomyosin kinases (TrkA, TrkB, TrkC) and sortilin. Studies suggested that p75^{NTR} functions by modulating Trk activation and expression of TrkA, TrkB, or TrkC has been found in most cells that express p75^{NTR} (Bothwell, 1995). Furthermore, modulating neurotrophin responses in collaboration with Trk receptors has been suggested as one of the chief physiological roles of the p75^{NTR} (Barker, 1998). It is also well established that p75^{NTR} influences Trk, helps form a high-affinity binding site for their cognate neurotrophins, and regulates cell survival and differentiation signaling (Conroy & Coulson, 2022, p. 75). Similarly, sortilin, a Type I transmembrane protein containing a Vps10p domain, interacts with p75^{NTR}, forming a high-affinity co-receptor complex that regulates proneurotrophin-induced cell death in various neuronal (Ceni et al., 2014), and non-neuronal cell types (Skeldal et al., 2012). However, the role of p75^{NTR} coreceptors in oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} cleavage remains poorly understood. Thus, to investigate the expression of Trk receptors and sortilin in fully differentiated mesencephalic cells, LUHMES cells were cultured in 60mm tissue-culture dishes. Differentiated LUHMES cells were treated with a vehicle for control or various concentrations of 6-OHDA (5 μ M and 7.5 μ M) for 18 hours. Cells were then lysed, and immunoblotting was performed on the cell lysates using antibodies specific to TrkA, TrkB, TrkC, or sortilin to assess their expression. Our results demonstrated that cells derived from mesencephalon express TrkA and sortilin but lack the expression of TrkB and TrkC (Figure 3.3). Furthermore, a significant decrease in TrkA expression in cultures exposed to oxidative stress was observed. However, the expression of sortilin was not affected by the 6-OHDA treatment.

These results suggest that TrkA and sortilin could play a role in influencing p75^{NTR} signaling in mesencephalic cells, while TrkB and TrkC do not.



Figure 3.3 Differentiated LUHMES Cells Express Sortilin and TrkA but Lack TrkB and TrkC.

A-D; Differentiated LUHMES cells were treated with vehicle or 10 μ M 6-OHDA for 18 hours. Lysates were then subjected to western blot analyses for p75^{NTR} co-receptors. to analyze the expression of p75NTR co-receptors. Immunoblotting for actin was performed as a loading control. Whole brain lysate (WB) was used as a positive control for protein detection. Sortilin (A) and TrkA (B) were detected in differentiated LUHMES cells, while TrkC (C) and TrkB (D) were not detected.

3.4 Homology Modeling of Human p75^{NTR} Extracellular Domain

p75^{NTR} consists of various domains, and crystal structures have revealed the structure of its extracellular domain, transmembrane domain, and death domain. Various crystal structures of the extracellular domain of p75^{NTR} are available in the protein data bank. Even though the structure of p75^{NTR}-ECD has been deciphered, they do not belong to the extracellular domain of Human p75^{NTR}. Additionally, the extracellular, transmembrane, and intracellular domains of human p75NTR are homologous with that of chick and rat (Barker, 1998). Utilizing the concept that homologous sequences lead to similarity in structure, we sought to model human p75^{NTR}-ECD utilizing the available crystal structures. Thus, to model Human p75^{NTR}-ECD, homology modeling was performed using SWISS-MODEL. The amino acid sequence of p75NTR was retrieved from the NCBI database, and the NCBI blast search was performed utilizing the human version as the template against that of the mouse, chick, and rat. Amino acids (1-189) were provided in the SWISS-MODEL server as a target sequence, and templates were searched. Out of fifty templates generated by the server, four templates with over 90% sequence identity were chosen to build models of human p75^{NTR}. We chose the top two models with the highest QMEAN or GQME scores. The two models, the first being the one derived using AlphaFold DB (PDB ID: A0A2Y9DNL7.1.A) as a template, showed a GQME score of 91.00, with MolProbity score of 1.0 and a Ramachandran favored percentage of 91.44%. The second was generated using PDB ID:1SG1 as a template. The model has a QMEANDisCo Global score of ~0.82, a MolProbity score of 2.02, and a Ramachandran favored percentage of 91.77%, with Ramachandran outliers being 1.90%. Our homology model revealed that the extracellular domain of human p75^{NTR} is indeed homologous in structure with that of the available crystal structure of the mouse (PDB ID: 1SG1) (Figure 3.4). After evaluating the two models, we used

the first model for our studies since it included the N-terminal domain sequences and consisted of amino acid residues 1-189, while the second model only consisted of amino acid sequences from 29-161.



Figure 3.4 Homology Modeling of the Structure of Human p75^{NTR}-ECD.

A; human model of p75^{NTR}-ECD generated using homology modeling. **B;** table showing scores for predicted Model. C; Ramachandran plot of the model. D; superposition of human p75NTR-ECD on the crystal structure of rat. E. Blast sequence alignment of Human p75NTR receptor vs. that of the Rat showing a percentage identity of 92.24%.

3.5 P75^{NTR} Stalk Domain Consists of Intrinsically Disordered Regions

p75^{NTR} goes through proteolytic processing, where the extracellular domain gets cleaved, releasing the ectodomain by α -secretase and is further cleaved by γ -secretase in the transmembrane region (Zampieri et al., 2005). To investigate whether a small molecule could be determined to block the ectodomain shedding of $p75^{NTR}$ by the action of α -secretase, initially, we searched for the crystal structure of the stalk domain, a region between the extracellular domain and the transmembrane domain of p75^{NTR} but there are no available structures for the region. Therefore, we sought to use ab initio modeling of the stalk domain. The models generated showed vast regions of the sequences being unstructured. Therefore, we utilized various tools to understand whether the stalk domain region consists of intrinsically disordered regions and provided 54 amino acid sequences in between the extracellular domain and the transmembrane domain to numerous web servers able to predict disorder in protein structures. PONDR VL-XT showed an overall percent disorder of 74% with an average prediction score of 0.7294 (Figure 3.5). Similarly, Adopt prediction and Metapredict also showed most of the regions of the stalk domain being unstructured. Furthermore, flDPnn prediction also predicted the region having no structure in the provided sequence. Therefore, our result suggests that most of the region of the stalk domain is intrinsically disordered. Furthermore, we used various servers such as I-TASSER, Alphafold2, Phyre2, and RosettaFold to model the stalk domain, and our ab initio model showed a small region closer to the transmembrane region being α -helix (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.5 The p75NTR Stalk Domain Consists of IDRs.

Various IDR-predicting web servers were provided with the p75NTR stalk domain (54 amino acid residues). A; PONDR prediction result; B; PONDR score per residue. C; Adopt IDR prediction plot for each residue. D; Metapridict IDR prediction plot per amino acid sequence provided. E. flDPnn IDR prediction results for the stalk domain of p75^{NTR}.



Figure 3.6 Ab Initio modeling of the p75^{NTR} Stalk Domain.

A; I-TASSER structure prediction of p75^{NTR} stalk domain, **B**; I-TASSER score plot. **C**; Alphafold structure prediction model of p75^{NTR} stalk domain, **D**; Alphafold scoring results, **E**. RosettaFold model. **F**; superimposition of the three models (**A**,**C**, **and E**). **G**; p75^{NTR} stalk domain sequence.

3.6 LM11A-31 Binds in Non-Canonical Regions in the P75^{NTR} Extracellular Domain Away from the NGF Binding Site I

It is well established that p75^{NTR} activation can influence cellular signaling towards prosurvival or pro-apoptosis. P75^{NTR} is activated through various pathways, and continuous effort has gone into determining the receptor activation and the induction of p75^{NTR}-dependent apoptosis. Data from in vitro studies also show that p75^{NTR} enhances cell survival induced by the interaction of NGF in sympathetic neurons, DRG, primary trigeminal, and Schwann cells (Ceni et al., 2014). However, p75^{NTR} mediates pro-apoptotic effects by forming a complex with sortilin due to the interaction of pro neurotrophins proNGF and proBDNF (Dedoni, 2020). Therefore, the interaction of neurotrophins and/or pro-neurotrophins plays a vital role in p75^{NTR} signaling. LM11A-31, a non-peptide ligand of the p75 neurotrophin receptor, mimics NGF β-hairpin loop 1 consisting of amino acids 29-35, a domain that interacts with p75^{NTR} (F. Longo *et al.*, 2008). Thus, we investigated these sites in human p75^{NTR}-ECD generated using SWISS-MODEL. Our study demonstrated that the residue Asp103 is involved with binding NGF residues Lys 32 and Lys35 (binding site I). Meanwhile, binding site II consists of p75 residues Cys 164 and Glu 147, which create a stabilized hydrogen bond with NGF-Arg114 (Figure 3.7). LM11A-31/p75^{NTR} interaction has not been characterized in the Human model of p75^{NTR}. LM11A-31 structure was downloaded from PubChem, and the docking procedure was performed in MOE (Molecular Operating Environment). The area of interaction between the small molecule LM11A-31 and mouse p75^{NTR}-ECD of the mouse has been demonstrated by Carder in Ph.D. Dissertation (Figure 3.8). Thus, we sought to understand the mechanism of interaction using a human receptor model. The human p75NTR-ECD model was provided as the receptor, and molecular docking was performed in various ways, with LM11A-31 being the ligand. 30 conformations and interactions

were generated, out of which 5 conformations were selected for our study. Our agnostic docking results suggest various non-canonical binding pockets in the receptor. Numerous docking results also suggested that residue Arg126 of p75^{NTR}-ECD interacted with LM11A-31 (Hydrogen bond). Another residue, Asp140, also interacted with the small molecule (Figure 3.9). Previous studies suggested that the ligand could bind at several sites on the same receptor (Massa *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, we hypothesize that LM11A-31 and p75^{NTR} interaction involves multiple binding sites and residues and may also involve conformational changes of the receptor's binding site, disallowing NGF or pro-NGF interaction.



(Synthetic efforts toward P97 AAA+ Atpase and p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Inhibitors, Figure 25 (Putative Binding Model of LM11A-31 at the NGF³²KGKE³⁵ Recognition Site of p75^{NTR}, PHD Dissertation, Carder, 2011).



Figure 3.7 Molecular Interaction Between LM11A-31/p75^{NTR}-ECD.

A; Previous study showing LM11A-p75NTR interaction (Carder, 2011). B-C: Preliminary docking result targeting previously described binding site, surface map (B), and ligand interaction map (C).



Crystal Structure of NGF/p75NTR (PBD ID:1SG1)



Human p75NTR Binding Sites

Figure 3.8 Structural Characterization of the NGF Binding Site of the p75^{NTR}-ECD.

A; structural representation of the two binding sites of the p75^{NTR} model using the crystal structure of the NGF/p75NTR complex (PDB ID:1SG1). **B**; Elaboration of the binding sites showing the residues involved in the binding of the NGF molecule to the p75NTR-ECD using the human p75^{NTR}-ECD model.



Figure 3.9 Molecular Docking of LM11A-31 in the p75^{NTR} – ECD

The small molecule LM11A-31 was docked in the human p75NTR-ECD model using various criteria. A: The human p75NTR-ECD structure marking the regions of interest. **B-D**: The molecular surface map (left) and the ligand-receptor interaction depiction (right), using rigid docking (**B**), Induced-Fit docking (**C**), and Induced-Fit tethered 0.1 (**D**).

Chapter 4. Discussion

4.1 Role of Receptor Internalization in p75^{NTR} Processing

In many biological contexts, neurotrophin signaling is regulated by endocytosis and intracellular trafficking of the neurotrophin receptors. For example, Trk receptors have been demonstrated to interact with dynein, suggesting a possible trafficking mechanism for Trksignaling endosomes in sympathetic and sensory neurons (Yano et al., 2001). Similarly, various studies have suggested endosomal activity for the p75^{NTR} receptor in various cell types. For example, in PC12 cells, p75^{NTR} interacts with signaling adaptors in endosomes in a liganddependent manner. Additionally, the internalization of the p75^{NTR} induced in this way adheres to the clathrin-mediated internalization pathway to the recycling endosome, distinctively from Trksignaling endosomes (Bronfman et al., 2003). Furthermore, in compartmentalized sympathetic neuronal cultures, internalization and retrograde trafficking of p75^{NTR} were detected both in response to ligand binding and in a ligand-independent manner without neurotrophin treatment (Escudero et al., 2019). The Rab family of small GTPases are considered prime regulators of membrane trafficking, where Rab5 marks the early/sorting endosome, which frequently contains either adaptor protein, phosphotyrosine interacting with PH domain and leucine zipper 1(APPL1) or early endosome antigen 1 (EEA1). APPL1 has been implicated in TrkA signaling, and NGF-TrkA function is determined by the multiple pathways involving TrkA trafficking (Barford et al., 2017). P75^{NTR} has been shown to activate Rab5 Family GTPases, Rab5 and Rab31, and the ICD domain of the receptor was found to interact with these binding partners (Baeza-Raja et al., 2012). Given this evidence that endosomal interactions mediate neurotrophin receptor functions, further research evaluating the signaling mechanisms that govern neurotrophin receptor
internalization and trafficking is merited. Such events may underlie the ability of p75^{NTR} to stimulate various signaling cascades and serve distinct physiological roles in different biological contexts.

In PC12 cells, NGF interaction promoted the internalization of p75^{NTR} into early endosomes, but no decrease in the surface levels of the receptor was observed (Saxena et al., 2005). It was also found that the retrograde transport of the p75^{NTR}-endosome consisted of the full-length receptor (p75^{NTR}-FL) and indicated the requirement of JNK activation and Rab5 and dynein involvement in the death-signaling endosome (Escudero et al., 2019). Furthermore, a study has also suggested that JNK activation may promote receptor internalization (Kenchappa et al., 2010). This data indicates that the proteolytic processing of the p75 neurotrophin receptor leads to a pro-apoptotic pathway occurring in the endosome. However, the association between p75^{NTR} internalization and p75^{NTR} cleavage influenced by oxidative stress has not been evaluated. Furthermore, the mechanism underlying proteolytic processing of the receptor has not been studied in dopaminergic cells/a Parkinson's disease model. Thus, in this study, we revealed that receptor internalization is required for oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} processing. Our study uncovers a possible mechanism of oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} activation where JNK is activated by p75^{NTR}, directing to internalization and proteolytic processing of the receptor, consequently leading to neuronal cell death. Receptor internalization of p75^{NTR} stimulated by the stress-activated kinase JNK has been confirmed in several cell types, such as mouse cortical neurons, PC12 and U373 cells (Bhakar et al., 2003), and sympathetic Neurons, and JNK activation has been demonstrated to induce p75NTR-mediated cell death (Kenchappa et al., 2010). Our previous study demonstrated a novel mechanism of JNK-dependent p75^{NTR} processing stimulated by oxidative stress in mesencephalic cells in a ligand-independent manner

(Kraemer *et al.*, 2021). Based on this evidence, we sought to understand whether internalization of the receptor plays a role in p75NTR cleavage in LUHMES cells exposed to oxidative stress. However, further studies are required to elucidate how much of a role the internalization of the receptor plays in the apoptotic pathway. It is possible that oxidative stress leads to excessive p75^{NTR} processing due to JNK activation and further increases the internalization of p75^{NTR}, consequently leading to further proteolytic processing of the receptor. Additionally, an understanding of the events leading to the internalization of the receptor is yet to be further elucidated.

4.2 Small Molecule, LM11A-31 Modulation of p75^{NTR} in Neurological Disorders

We found that a small molecule modulator of p75^{NTR}, LM11A-31, significantly reduces cell death and attenuates neurite degeneration in mesencephalic cells exposed to 6-OHDA. LM11A-31 is a non-peptide selected through screening of compounds mimicking an NGF single loop 1 structure (Massa *et al.*, 2006). Widely accepted, P75^{NTR} is a receptor with unique and diverse signaling mechanisms capable of interacting with many proteins, producing pro-survival and pro-apoptosis in a cell-type-specific manner. Moreover, P75^{NTR} has been indicated to be associated with various neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), schizophrenia, major depressive disorder (MD), posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Shu *et al.*, 2015, p. 75) as well as cerebrovascular disease, acute or chronic brain injury, spinal cord injury (Xiong *et al.*, 2022). Various compounds, such as LM11A-31 or LM11A-24 and THX-B, have been confirmed as modulators of p75^{NTR}, mainly functioning by promoting survival signaling and interfering with proNT degenerative signaling (Xiong *et al.*, 2022). Higher levels of ProNTs have been associated with apoptosis in multiple neuropathologic conditions, including Alzheimer's disease,

66

CNS trauma, and seizure. Likewise, various forms of Motor neuron death in ALS patients directly correlate to increased proNGF and/or NGF levels and p75^{NTR} re-expression (F. Longo et al., 2008). LM11A-31 has been found to modulate proNGF/p75NTR complex, reduce astrocytic proNGF levels, suppress neural JNK/PARP signaling in vitro, and amend acute stroke injury (Nasoohi et al., 2023). Furthermore, LM11A-31 was suggested to inhibit calpain activity and activation of cdk5, JNK, and cofilin, diminish the formation of tau aggregates, and reduce degeneration of synaptic spines and synapses in PS19 mice model (T. Yang et al., 2020). Therefore, the results observed through our study of LM11A-31 support the notion that p75^{NTR} regulates cell survival and neurite degeneration in cells of the mesencephalon exposed to oxidative stress. Yet, further studies are required to understand how LM11A-31 modulates p75^{NTR} towards pro-survival in oxidative stress-induced neuronal cells. Higher Levels of p75^{NTR}-ECD are observed in brain cells with injury and neurodegeneration and have also been seen in the urine samples of ALS patients, as well as in HD patients and R6/2 mice models (Simmons et al., 2021). Since $p75^{NTR}$ has been found in various neurological disorders, our data supports the role of p75^{NTR} in neurological signaling pathways. Thus, our findings may not only extend to PD but also assist with other neurodegeneration-related diseases. Higher p75^{NTR}-ECD levels also indicate the role of p75^{NTR} proteolytic processing in neuronal cell death. However, it is not well understood whether extracellular domain shedding occurs due to ligand interaction or ligandindependent p75^{NTR}-mediated apoptotic death signaling, which unseals other areas of exploration. Current treatments for Parkinson's disease are palliative. We found that LM11A-31 significantly improved cell viability in various doses (1 nM (n=7), 10 nM (n=5), and 20 nM (n=2) in a dose-dependent manner and reduced neurite degeneration in oxidative stress-induced LUHMES cells. These findings indicate that p75^{NTR} regulates mesencephalic cells' cell survival

and neurite degeneration. Therefore, LM11A-31 modulation of p75^{NTR} could be a potential therapeutic target for Parkinson's disease. The possibility exists that the small molecule regulates the signaling of p75^{NTR} by interfering with its co-receptor interaction and/or through other mechanisms not fully understood. It is also possible that the small molecule influences prosurvival through a completely different mechanism, such as interaction with proteins/receptors not involving p75^{NTR}. In accordance with the role of p75^{NTR} in cell survival and neurite degeneration in cells derived from the mesencephalon, and LM11A-31 being bioavailable and a potent modulator of p75^{NTR}, small molecule LM11A-31 could provide a potential for further exploration in drug discovery studies related to Parkinson's Disease.

4.3 P75^{NTR} Signaling Influencers in the Cells Derived from Mesencephalon

Moreover, p75^{NTR} can interact with various classes of receptors mediating numerous outcomes: interactions of p75^{NTR} and Trk receptors enhance growth signaling and cell survival, interactions of the receptor with sortilin and pro-neurotrophins lead to apoptosis, interactions with the Nogo receptor and Lingo-1 control neuronal growth (Malik *et al.*, 2021; Meeker & Williams, 2015), and interactions with protein kinase A (PKA) regulate cAMP (Malik *et al.*, 2021). Moreover, Trk receptor-mediated signaling activates major pathways such as Ras-ERK, PI3K-AKT, PLC-γ, and their downstream effectors (Huang & Reichardt, 2003). The p75 neurotrophin receptor has been suggested to modulate the function of Trk receptors, either by promoting ligand binding and neurotrophin accessibility or by endocytosis and retrograde transport to specific membrane compartments (Skaper, 2008). However, the roles of coreceptors in p75^{NTR} activation induced by oxidative stress in mesencephalic cells are not known, and p75NTR coreceptor expression has not been characterized in LUHMES cells. p75^{NTR} can interact with various receptors and influence various signaling pathways in a cell-type-specific

68

manner (Kraemer, Yoon, *et al.*, 2014) and is dependent on the expression of the coreceptors. Our study confirms the expression of TrkA and sortilin, whereas there is a lack of TrkB and TrkC in LUHMES cells. These findings suggest that TrkA and sortilin may regulate p75^{NTR} activation and signaling in cells derived from mesencephalon. Nevertheless, further research is required to understand how p75^{NTR} coreceptors influence its signaling and will be the focus of our future studies.

4.4 Understanding the Structure of p75^{NTR}, and the Interaction Between LM11A and p75^{NTR}-ECD

Anfinsen dictated that a protein's amino acid sequence determines its 3D structure, and structure determines its function (Guo *et al.*, 2022). Similar sequences fold into identical structures since proteins' structures are more conserved (Muhammed & Aki-Yalcin, 2019). p75^{NTR} structure is characterized by the extracellular domain (p75^{NTR}-ECD) consisting of four cysteine-rich repeat regions (termed the extracellular domain) and a stalk domain, a transmembrane domain (TMD) containing highly conserved Cys257, and the intracellular domain (p75^{NTR}-ICD) comprised of the juxtamembrane domain (JTM) and the death domain (DD) (Vilar, 2017). The structure of the p75^{NTR}-ECD has been solved, and X-ray crystallography structures are available in the protein data bank (RCSB) of *Rattus norvegicus* (PBD ID: 1SG1, 3BUK) and *Mus musculus* (PBD ID: 3IJ2). Similarly, the NMR structure of *Homo sapiens* p75^{NTR}-TMD (PBD ID: 5ZGG), *Rattus norvegicus* (PBD ID: 2MJO, 2MIC), and solution NMR structure of the death domain of *Homo sapiens* (PBD ID: 2N83, 7CSQ) are also readily available. Even then, available structures in the RCSB of p75^{NTR}-ECD do not belong to that of humans. Furthermore, the structure of the stalk domain (the region between the ECD and the TMD) and the juxtamembrane domain (the region between the TMD and the DD) has not been solved.

LM11A-31 has been suggested to mimic NGF loop 1 and indicated to bind in the site I region of p75^{NTR}-ECD. However, the mechanism of action of the small molecule is not fully understood. Homology modeling is a computational structural method for protein structure prediction that uses the amino acid sequence of a protein to determine its 3D structure based on its template (Muhammed & Aki-Yalcin, 2019). Therefore, we used SWISS-MODEL regarding the importance of P75NTR-ECD in the binding of neurotrophins and LM11A-31. This widely used server utilizes comparative modeling (homology modeling) to predict the 3D structure of human p75^{NTR}-ECD, thereby understanding the potential binding site/sites and the mode of action of the small molecule. NCBI blast results of the extracellular domain of the p75^{NTR} showed over 90% sequence identity amino acid sequence between humans and that of the mouse and rat. Consequently, our structural results also indicated that the 3D structure of this region is extremely similar, consisting of almost identical folds. Thus, our study demonstrates that the structure of p75NTR-ECD cysteine-rich repeat is extremely conserved among species. This region consists of the ligand-binding site and provides a potential target in drug discovery studies for neurodegeneration that is now being started in the Kraemer and Baudry laboratories.

Computational Studies to reveal the binding site have been performed on NGF and p75^{NTR}-ECD, and the structure of the complex has also been solved through crystallography. He and Garcia described two separate sites: site I (in the CRD1-CRD2 domains) and site II (CRD3-CRD4 junction) in the p75^{NTR}-ECD to be involved in the binding of NGF molecules and form an asymmetric receptor and ligand complex (He & Garcia, 2004) (Figure 13). Site-directed mutagenesis results suggested two adjacent hairpin loops of NGF, loop I (residue 23-35) and

70

loop IV (residues 93-98), where residues Lys 32, Lys 34, and Lys 95 were found to participate in p75^{NTR} binding. Whereas amino acid residues Asp47, Lys56, Asp75, Asp76, Asp88, and Glu89 of p75^{NTR} were principally involved in the binding (Shamovsky et al., 2008). In terms of small molecule binding, Carter. Evan J., in his ph.D dissertation, showed LM11A-31 bound in the binding site I of p75^{NTR} where the NGF beta-hairpin turn loop 1 (Lys34, Lys32) amino acids interact with Asp75 of p75^{NTR} through a network of hydrogen bonding and electrostatic interactions. (Carter., 2019, Ph.D. dissertation). However, the precise interaction of the small molecule has not been characterized in human p75^{NTR}-ECD, thus requiring further clarification. Crystallographic studies of an NGF-p75NTR complex only confirmed K32 and H75 but not the other lysine residues as contact sites of NGF with p75^{NTR} (F. Longo et al., 2008). To understand the molecular interaction between LM11A-31 and p75^{NTR}-ECD, we used MOE (Molecular Operating Environment). We docked the small molecule into our human model of p75^{NTR}-ECD in three different ways: rigid, induced fit, and induced fit tethered 0.1. Our preliminary data demonstrates various binding regions away from the putative binding site, providing novel interaction regions between LM11A-31 and the human p75^{NTR}-ECD. Furthermore, studies thus far have only utilized rat or mouse p75^{NTR}-ECD crystal structures to elucidate the interaction site between NGF/p75^{NTR}-ECD (He & Garcia, 2004) and LM11A-31/p75^{NTR}-ECD (Carter, 2010, Ph.D. Dissertation) (Figure 16).

Primarily, our focus was to screen for small molecules capable of blocking the interaction of ADAM17 (TACE) with the p75NTR receptor. TACE has been found to proteolytically cleave the ECD of the low-affinity neurotrophin receptor p75^{NTR} and initiate regulated intramembranous proteolysis (RIP) of the CTF by influencing γ -secretase activity(Ahmed *et al.*, 2006; Gil *et al.*, 2007). Blocking the ectodomain shedding could provide us with a better

71

understanding of the mechanism of activation of the receptor and its roles. Specifically, TACEinduced proteolysis occurs in the region close to the transmembrane domain of the receptors (Gooz, 2010). These considerations led us to investigate the substrate recognition site in p75^{NTR} to block sheddase activity. However, no crystal structures are available for the receptor's stalk domain. Therefore, we used ab initio modeling methods to generate model structures for the stalk domain region. Validated through various web servers to predict intrinsically disordered regions in proteins, our results demonstrated vast regions of Intrinsically disordered regions being disordered. Uniprot data on human p75^{NTR} (Uniprot ID: P08138) shows amino acid regions 194-219, as well as 218-338 as disordered. Our results confirm the unstructured region. Interestingly, our ab initio modeling results suggest α -helix structure for a small region in the stalk domain. This region could have greater significance and should prove valuable for therapeutic targets to block p75^{NTR} extracellular domain shedding.

Chapter 5. Conclusion

In conclusion, our recent findings indicate that receptor internalization is required for oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} processing. Considered with previous data demonstrating a role for JNK in activating p75^{NTR}, these findings support a model in which oxidative stress induces activation of JNK, which subsequently stimulates p75^{NTR} internalization, thereby facilitating proteolysis of the receptor by endosomal proteases. The role of p75^{NTR} coreceptors in oxidative stress-induced p75^{NTR} activation remains poorly understood. However, p75^{NTR} receptor stimulation can occur independently of TrkB and TrkC since differentiated LUHMES cells lack detectable production of these co-receptors. We are currently evaluating the role of TrkA and sortilin in the proteolytic processing of p75^{NTR} induced by oxidative stress. These signaling events may be of central importance in determining the survival of dopaminergic neurons since pretreatment of LUHMES cells with LM11A-31, a small molecule modulator of p75^{NTR}, significantly reduced neuronal death associated with oxidative stress. Additionally, our preliminary data indicate that LM11A-31 protects mesencephalic neurons from oxidative stressinduced neurite degeneration, a key, early-stage event associated with Parkinson's disease (PD). Furthermore, the complete structure of the receptor has not been solved yet. The Protein Data bank has structures for the extracellular, transmembrane, and death domains. However, the structure for the stalk domain (domain between p75^{NTR}-ECD and p75^{NTR}-TMD) is not available. Our study indicates that the stalk domain is mostly intrinsically disordered and may involve conformational changes once activated to play a crucial role in p75NTR signaling, such as forming a recognition site, protein-protein interaction site, or cleavage site. ADAM17 indicated that this region ('eight amino acid region proximal to the TMD) is where the cleavage site for TACE lies (Gooz, 2010). Furthermore, our preliminary study of LM11A-31/p75^{NTR} interaction

revealed multiple potential binding sites, suggesting a mechanism of action involving various binding pockets and the possible mechanism through which the ligand influences p75^{NTR} signaling. Further elucidation of the ligand/receptor interaction will be a focus of our future studies. Altogether, these findings provide novel insight into p75NTR signaling mechanisms and their potential impact on neurodegeneration associated with PD, and this work underscores the need for further studies investigating the therapeutic potential of targeting p75^{NTR} to treat PD. Our ongoing and future studies are designed to identify the impact of p75^{NTR} signaling on dopaminergic neurodegeneration in *in-vivo* models of PD.

References

- Abbott, A. (2010). Levodopa: The story so far. *Nature*, *466*(7310), S6–S7. https://doi.org/10.1038/466S6a
- Ahmed, Z., Mazibrada, G., Seabright, R. J., Dent, R. G., Berry, M., Logan, A., Ahmed, Z.,
 Mazibrada, G., Seabright, R. J., Dent, R. G., Berry, M., & Logan, A. (2006). TACEinduced cleavage of NgR and p75 ^{NTR} in dorsal root ganglion cultures disinhibits
 outgrowth and promotes branching of neurites in the presence of inhibitory CNS myelin. *The FASEB Journal*, 20(11), 1939–1941. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-5339fje
- Akil, H. (2016). Tropomyosin-related kinase B/brain derived-neurotrophic factor signaling pathway as a potential therapeutic target for colorectal cancer. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 22(2), 490. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i2.490
- Alam, Z. I., Jenner, A., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A. J., Cairns, N., Marsden, C. D., Jenner, P., & Halliwell, B. (1997). Oxidative DNA Damage in the Parkinsonian Brain: An Apparent Selective Increase in 8-Hydroxyguanine Levels in Substantia Nigra. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 69(3), 1196–1203. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.1997.69031196.x
- AlDakheel, A., Kalia, L. V., & Lang, A. E. (2014). Pathogenesis-Targeted, Disease-Modifying Therapies in Parkinson Disease. *Neurotherapeutics*, 11(1), 6–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-013-0218-1
- Ali, S. F., David, S. N., Newport, G. D., Cadet, J. L., & Slikker, W. (1994). MPTP-induced oxidative stress and neurotoxicity are age-dependent: Evidence from measures of reactive

oxygen species and striatal dopamine levels. *Synapse*, *18*(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.890180105

- Aloe, L., Rocco, M., Balzamino, B., & Micera, A. (2015). Nerve Growth Factor: A Focus on Neuroscience and Therapy. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 13(3), 294–303. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X13666150403231920
- Amatu, A., Sartore-Bianchi, A., Bencardino, K., Pizzutilo, E. G., Tosi, F., & Siena, S. (2019). Tropomyosin receptor kinase (TRK) biology and the role of NTRK gene fusions in cancer. *Annals of Oncology*, 30, viii5–viii15. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz383
- Amatu, A., Sartore-Bianchi, A., & Siena, S. (2016). NTRK gene fusions as novel targets of cancer therapy across multiple tumour types. *ESMO Open*, 1(2), e000023. https://doi.org/10.1136/esmoopen-2015-000023
- Anfinsen, C. B. (1973). Principles that Govern the Folding of Protein Chains. *Science*, *181*(4096), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.181.4096.223
- Ascherio, A., Chen, H., Weisskopf, M. G., O'Reilly, E., McCullough, M. L., Calle, E. E., Schwarzschild, M. A., & Thun, M. J. (2006). Pesticide exposure and risk for Parkinson's disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 60(2), 197–203. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20904
- Baeza-Raja, B., Li, P., Le Moan, N., Sachs, B. D., Schachtrup, C., Davalos, D., Vagena, E.,
 Bridges, D., Kim, C., Saltiel, A. R., Olefsky, J. M., & Akassoglou, K. (2012). P75
 neurotrophin receptor regulates glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(15), 5838–5843.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103638109

Bai, D., Chen, H., & Huang, B.-R. (2003). RanBPM is a novel binding protein for p75NTR.
 Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 309(3), 552–557.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.08.033

Baldwin, A. N., & Shooter, E. M. (1995). Zone Mapping of the Binding Domain of the Rat Low Affinity Nerve Growth Factor Receptor by the Introduction of Novel N-Glycosylation Sites. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(9), 4594–4602. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.9.4594

- Bamji, S. X., Majdan, M., Pozniak, C. D., Belliveau, D. J., Aloyz, R., Kohn, J., Causing, C. G.,
 & Miller, F. D. (1998). The p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Mediates Neuronal Apoptosis and Is Essential for Naturally Occurring Sympathetic Neuron Death. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 140(4), 911–923. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.140.4.911
- Barbacid, M. (1994). The Trk family of neurotrophin receptors. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 25(11), 1386–1403. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.480251107
- Barford, K., Deppmann, C., & Winckler, B. (2017). The neurotrophin receptor signaling endosome: Where trafficking meets signaling. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 77(4), 405– 418. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22427
- Barker, P. A. (1998a). p75NTR: A study in contrasts. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 5(5), 346–356. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4400375
- Barker, P. A. (1998b). p75NTR: A study in contrasts. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 5(5), 346–356. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4400375
- Bathina, S., & Das, U. N. (2015). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its clinical implications. *Archives of Medical Science*, *6*, 1164–1178. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2015.56342

- Behl, T., Makkar, R., Sehgal, A., Singh, S., Sharma, N., Zengin, G., Bungau, S., Andronie-Cioara, F. L., Munteanu, M. A., Brisc, M. C., Uivarosan, D., & Brisc, C. (2021). Current Trends in Neurodegeneration: Cross Talks between Oxidative Stress, Cell Death, and Inflammation. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *22*(14), 7432. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22147432
- Benabid, A. L., Pollak, P., Louveau, A., Henry, S., & De Rougemont, J. (1987). Combined (Thalamotomy and Stimulation) Stereotactic Surgery of the VIM Thalamic Nucleus for Bilateral Parkinson Disease. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, 50(1–6), 344– 346. https://doi.org/10.1159/000100803
- Benedetti, M., Levi, A., & Chao, M. V. (1993). Differential expression of nerve growth factor receptors leads to altered binding affinity and neurotrophin responsiveness. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 90(16), 7859–7863. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.16.7859
- Biasini, M., Bienert, S., Waterhouse, A., Arnold, K., Studer, G., Schmidt, T., Kiefer, F.,
 Cassarino, T. G., Bertoni, M., Bordoli, L., & Schwede, T. (2014). SWISS-MODEL:
 Modelling protein tertiary and quaternary structure using evolutionary information. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(W1), W252–W258. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku340
- Bibel, M. (1999). Biochemical and functional interactions between the neurotrophin receptors trk and p75NTR. *The EMBO Journal*, 18(3), 616–622. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.3.616
- Bloem, B. R., Okun, M. S., & Klein, C. (2021). Parkinson's disease. *The Lancet*, 397(10291), 2284–2303. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00218-X

Bobkova, N. V., Medvinskaya, N. I., Nesterova, I. V., Samokhin, A. N., Kamynina, A. V.,
Koroev, D. O., Volkova, T. D., Zaporozhskaya, Y. V., & Volpina, O. M. (2015).
Structure–Function mapping of the extracellular part of neurotrophin receptor P75. *Biochemistry (Moscow) Supplement Series A: Membrane and Cell Biology*, 9(3), 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1990747815020142

- Bothwell, M. (1995). Functional Interactions of Neurotrophins and Neurotrophin Receptors. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *18*(1), 223–253. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.18.030195.001255
- Bothwell, M. (2014). NGF, BDNF, NT3, and NT4. In G. R. Lewin & B. D. Carter (Eds.), *Neurotrophic Factors* (Vol. 220, pp. 3–15). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-45106-5 1
- Bronfman, F. C., & Fainzilber, M. (2004). Multi-tasking by the p75 neurotrophin receptor: Sortilin things out? *EMBO Reports*, 5(9), 867–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400219
- Bronfman, F. C., Tcherpakov, M., Jovin, T. M., & Fainzilber, M. (2003). Ligand-Induced Internalization of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor: A Slow Route to the Signaling Endosome. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(8), 3209–3220. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-08-03209.2003
- Buck, C. R., Martinez, H. J., Chao, M. V., & Black, I. B. (1988). Differential expression of the nerve growth factor receptor gene in multiple brain areas. *Developmental Brain Research*, 44(2), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(88)90224-6
- Castellani, R. J., Perry, G., Siedlak, S. L., Nunomura, A., Shimohama, S., Zhang, J., Montine, T., Sayre, L. M., & Smith, M. A. (2002). Hydroxynonenal adducts indicate a role for lipid

peroxidation in neocortical and brainstem Lewy bodies in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, *319*(1), 25–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)02514-9

- Ceni, C., Unsain, N., Zeinieh, M. P., & Barker, P. A. (2014). Neurotrophins in the Regulation of Cellular Survival and Death. In G. R. Lewin & B. D. Carter (Eds.), *Neurotrophic Factors* (Vol. 220, pp. 193–221). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-45106-5_8
- Chao, M. V. (2003). Neurotrophins and their receptors: A convergence point for many signalling pathways. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *4*(4), 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1078
- Chen, X., Guo, C., & Kong, J. (2012). Oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. Neural Regeneration Research, 7(5), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.3969/j.issn.1673-5374.2012.05.009
- Cheramy, A., Leviel, V., & Glowinski, J. (1981). Dendritic release of dopamine in the substantia nigra. *Nature*, *289*(5798), 537–543. https://doi.org/10.1038/289537a0
- Cleeter, M. W. J., Cooper, J. M., & Schapira, A. H. V. (1992). Irreversible Inhibition of Mitochondrial Complex I by 1-Methyl-4-Phenylpyridinium: Evidence for Free Radical Involvement. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 58(2), 786–789. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1992.tb09789.x
- Clements, R. T., Fuller, L. E., Kraemer, K. R., Radomski, S. A., Hunter-Chang, S., Hall, W. C., Kalantar, A. A., & Kraemer, B. R. (2022a). Quantification of Neurite Degeneration with Enhanced Accuracy and Efficiency in an *In Vitro* Model of Parkinson's Disease. *Eneuro*, 9(2), ENEURO.0327-21.2022. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0327-21.2022
- Clements, R. T., Fuller, L. E., Kraemer, K. R., Radomski, S. A., Hunter-Chang, S., Hall, W. C., Kalantar, A. A., & Kraemer, B. R. (2022b). Quantification of Neurite Degeneration with

Enhanced Accuracy and Efficiency in an *In Vitro* Model of Parkinson's Disease. *Eneuro*, 9(2), ENEURO.0327-21.2022. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0327-21.2022

- Connolly, B. S., & Lang, A. E. (2014). Pharmacological Treatment of Parkinson Disease: A Review. *JAMA*, *311*(16), 1670. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.3654
- Conroy, J. N., & Coulson, E. J. (2022). High-affinity TrkA and p75 neurotrophin receptor complexes: A twisted affair. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 298(3), 101568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2022.101568
- Cragnolini, A. B., & Friedman, W. J. (2008). The function of p75NTR in glia. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *31*(2), 99–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.11.005
- D. Skaper, S. (2011). Peptide Mimetics of Neurotrophins and their Receptors. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 17(25), 2704–2718. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161211797415995
- Dawbarn, D., & Allen, S. J. (2003). Neurotrophins and neurodegeneration. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, *29*(3), 211–230. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2990.2003.00487.x
- De Lau, L. M., & Breteler, M. M. (2006). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. *The Lancet Neurology*, 5(6), 525–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70471-9
- Dechant, G., & Barde, Y.-A. (2002). The neurotrophin receptor p75NTR: Novel functions and implications for diseases of the nervous system. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(11), 1131–1136. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1102-1131
- Dechant, G., & Neumann, H. (2002). Neurotrophins. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *513*, 303–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0123-7 11

- Dedoni, S. (2020). Valproic acid upregulates the expression of the p75NTR/sortilin receptor complex to induce neuronal apoptosis.
- Dedoni, S., Marras, L., Olianas, M. C., Ingianni, A., & Onali, P. (2021). The Neurotrophin Receptor TrkC as a Novel Molecular Target of the Antineuroblastoma Action of Valproic Acid. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(15), 7790. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22157790
- DeMaagd, G., & Philip, A. (2015). Parkinson's Disease and Its Management: Part 1: Disease Entity, Risk Factors, Pathophysiology, Clinical Presentation, and Diagnosis. P & T: A Peer-Reviewed Journal for Formulary Management, 40(8), 504–532.
- Dexter, D. T., Carayon, A., Javoy-Agid, F., Agid, Y., Wells, F. R., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A. J., Jenner, P., & Marsden, C. D. (1991). ALTERATIONS IN THE LEVELS OF IRON, FERRITIN AND OTHER TRACE METALS IN PARKINSON'S DISEASE AND OTHER NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES AFFECTING THE BASAL GANGLIA. *Brain*, *114*(4), 1953–1975. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/114.4.1953
- Dexter, D. T., Sian, J., Rose, S., Hindmarsh, J. G., Mann, V. M., Cooper, J. M., Wells, F. R., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A. J., Schapira, A. H. V., Jenner, P., & Marsden, C. D. (1994).
 Indices of oxidative stress and mitochondrial function in individuals with incidental Lewy body disease. *Annals of Neurology*, *35*(1), 38–44.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410350107
- Dias, V., Junn, E., & Mouradian, M. M. (2013). The Role of Oxidative Stress in Parkinson's Disease. *Journal of Parkinson's Disease*, 3(4), 461–491. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-130230

- Dyson, H. J., & Wright, P. E. (2005). Intrinsically unstructured proteins and their functions. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 6(3), 197–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1589
- Ebendal, T. (1992). Function and evolution in the NGF family and its receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *32*(4), 461–470. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.490320402
- Emamzadeh, F. N., & Surguchov, A. (2018). Parkinson's Disease: Biomarkers, Treatment, and Risk Factors. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 612. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00612
- Emenecker, R. J., Griffith, D., & Holehouse, A. S. (2021). Metapredict: A fast, accurate, and easy-to-use predictor of consensus disorder and structure. *Biophysical Journal*, *120*(20), 4312–4319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2021.08.039
- Emenecker, R. J., Griffith, D., & Holehouse, A. S. (2022). Metapredict V2: An update to metapredict, a fast, accurate, and easy-to-use predictor of consensus disorder and structure [Preprint]. Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.06.494887
- Ernfors, P., Wetmore, C., Eriksdotter-Nilsson, M., Bygdeman, M., Strömberg, I., Olson, L., & Persson, H. (1991). The nerve growth factor receptor gene is expressed in both neuronal and non-neuronal tissues in the human fetus. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 9(1), 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/0736-5748(91)90073-U
- Escudero, C. A., Cabeza, C., Moya-Alvarado, G., Maloney, M. T., Flores, C. M., Wu, C., Court,
 F. A., Mobley, W. C., & Bronfman, F. C. (2019). C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)dependent internalization and Rab5-dependent endocytic sorting mediate long-distance
 retrograde neuronal death induced by axonal BDNF-p75 signaling. *Scientific Reports*,
 9(1), 6070. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42420-6

Escudero, C., Lazo, O., Galleguillos, C., Parraguez, J., Lopez-Verrilli, M., Cabeza, C., Leon, L.,
Saeed, U., Retamal, C., Gonzalez, A., Marzolo, M., Carter, B., Court, F., & Bronfman, F.
(2014). P75 neurotrophin receptor evades the endolysosomal route, favouring
multivesicular bodies specialised for exosomal release in neuronal cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, jcs.141754. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.141754

Fahn, S., & Cohen, G. (1992). The oxidant stress hypothesis in Parkinson's disease: Evidence supporting it. *Annals of Neurology*, 32(6), 804–812. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410320616

- Fang, J. Y., & Tolleson, C. (2017). The role of deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease: An overview and update on new developments. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, Volume 13*, 723–732. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S113998
- Farrer, M. J. (2006). Genetics of Parkinson disease: Paradigm shifts and future prospects. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 7(4), 306–318. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1831
- Furukawa, K., Shima, A., Kambe, D., Nishida, A., Wada, I., Sakamaki, H., Yoshimura, K., Terada, Y., Sakato, Y., Mitsuhashi, M., Sawamura, M., Nakanishi, E., Taruno, Y., Yamakado, H., Fushimi, Y., Okada, T., Nakamoto, Y., Takahashi, R., & Sawamoto, N. (2022). Motor Progression and Nigrostriatal Neurodegeneration in Parkinson Disease. *Annals of Neurology*, *92*(1), 110–121. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.26373
- Gambaro, R. C., Seoane, A., & Padula, G. (2019). Oxidative Stress and Genomic Damage Induced In Vitro in Human Peripheral Blood by Two Preventive Treatments of Iron Deficiency Anemia. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 190(2), 318–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-018-1576-7

Genestra, M. (2007). Oxyl radicals, redox-sensitive signalling cascades and antioxidants. *Cellular Signalling*, *19*(9), 1807–1819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.04.009

Gil, C., Cubí, R., & Aguilera, J. (2007). Shedding of the p75 ^{NTR} neurotrophin receptor is modulated by lipid rafts. *FEBS Letters*, 581(9), 1851–1858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.03.080

Goncharuk, S. A., Artemieva, L. E., Nadezhdin, K. D., Arseniev, A. S., & Mineev, K. S. (2020). Revising the mechanism of p75NTR activation: Intrinsically monomeric state of death domains invokes the "helper" hypothesis. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 13686. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-70721-8

- Gong, Y., Cao, P., Yu, H., & Jiang, T. (2008). Crystal structure of the neurotrophin-3 and p75NTR symmetrical complex. *Nature*, 454(7205), 789–793. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07089
- Gooz, M. (2010). ADAM-17: The enzyme that does it all. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 45(2), 146–169. https://doi.org/10.3109/10409231003628015
- Graves, S. M., Xie, Z., Stout, K. A., Zampese, E., Burbulla, L. F., Shih, J. C., Kondapalli, J.,
 Patriarchi, T., Tian, L., Brichta, L., Greengard, P., Krainc, D., Schumacker, P. T., &
 Surmeier, D. J. (2020). Dopamine metabolism by a monoamine oxidase mitochondrial
 shuttle activates the electron transport chain. *Nature Neuroscience*, *23*(1), 15–20.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0556-3
- Griffin, N., Marsland, M., Roselli, S., Oldmeadow, C., Attia, J., Walker, M. M., Hondermarck, H., & Faulkner, S. (2020). The Receptor Tyrosine Kinase TrkA Is Increased and Targetable in HER2-Positive Breast Cancer. *Biomolecules*, *10*(9), 1329. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10091329

- Gromiha, M. M., Nagarajan, R., & Selvaraj, S. (2019). Protein Structural Bioinformatics: An Overview. In *Encyclopedia of Bioinformatics and Computational Biology* (pp. 445–459). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809633-8.20278-1
- Guo, H.-B., Perminov, A., Bekele, S., Kedziora, G., Farajollahi, S., Varaljay, V., Hinkle, K.,
 Molinero, V., Meister, K., Hung, C., Dennis, P., Kelley-Loughnane, N., & Berry, R.
 (2022). AlphaFold2 models indicate that protein sequence determines both structure and dynamics. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 10696. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14382-9
- Habets, J. G. V., Heijmans, M., Kuijf, M. L., Janssen, M. L. F., Temel, Y., & Kubben, P. L.
 (2018). An update on adaptive deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 33(12), 1834–1843. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.115
- Hallböök, F., Ibáñez, C. F., & Persson, H. (1991). Evolutionary studies of the nerve growth factor family reveal a novel member abundantly expressed in xenopus ovary. *Neuron*, 6(5), 845–858. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(91)90180-8
- Hauser, R. A. (2009). Levodopa: Past, Present, and Future. *European Neurology*, 62(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1159/000215875
- He, X., & Garcia, K. C. (2004). Structure of Nerve Growth Factor Complexed with the Shared Neurotrophin Receptor p75. *Science*, 304(5672), 870–875. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1095190
- Heumann, R. (1994). Neurotrophin signalling. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 4(5), 668–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-4388(94)90008-6
- Hohn, A., Leibrock, J., Bailey, K., & Barde, Y.-A. (1990). Identification and characterization of a novel member of the nerve growth factor/brain-derived neurotrophic factor family.
 Nature, 344(6264), 339–341. https://doi.org/10.1038/344339a0

- Hu, G., Katuwawala, A., Wang, K., Wu, Z., Ghadermarzi, S., Gao, J., & Kurgan, L. (2021).
 flDPnn: Accurate intrinsic disorder prediction with putative propensities of disorder functions. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 4438. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24773-7
- Huang, B., Kong, L., Wang, C., Ju, F., Zhang, Q., Zhu, J., Gong, T., Zhang, H., Yu, C., Zheng,
 W.-M., & Bu, D. (2023). Protein Structure Prediction: Challenges, Advances, and the
 Shift of Research Paradigms. *Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics*,
 S1672022923000657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gpb.2022.11.014
- Huang, E. J., & Reichardt, L. F. (2001). Neurotrophins: Roles in Neuronal Development and Function. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 24(1), 677–736. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.677
- Huang, E. J., & Reichardt, L. F. (2003). Trk Receptors: Roles in Neuronal Signal Transduction.
 Annual Review of Biochemistry, 72(1), 609–642.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.72.121801.161629
- Hutson, L. D., & Bothwell, M. (2001). Expression and function of *Xenopus laevis* p75 ^{NTR} suggest evolution of developmental regulatory mechanisms. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 49(2), 79–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.1067
- Ibáñez, C. F., Ebendal, T., Barbany, G., Murray-Rust, J., Blundell, T. L., & Persson, H. (1992).
 Disruption of the low affinity receptor-binding site in NGF allows neuronal survival and differentiation by binding to the trk gene product. *Cell*, 69(2), 329–341.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90413-7

Ichim, G., Tauszig-Delamasure, S., & Mehlen, P. (2012). Neurotrophins and cell death. *Experimental Cell Research*, 318(11), 1221–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.03.006

- Ip, N. Y., Ibáñez, C. F., Nye, S. H., McClain, J., Jones, P. F., Gies, D. R., Belluscio, L., Le Beau, M. M., Espinosa, R., & Squinto, S. P. (1992). Mammalian neurotrophin-4: Structure, chromosomal localization, tissue distribution, and receptor specificity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89(7), 3060–3064. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.7.3060
- Janssen, M. L. F., Duits, A. A., Tourai, A. M., Ackermans, L., Leentjes, A. F. G., Van Kranen-Mastenbroek, V., Oosterloo, M., Visser-Vandewalle, V., & Temel, Y. (2014).
 Subthalamic Nucleus High-Frequency Stimulation for Advanced Parkinson's Disease: Motor and Neuropsychological Outcome after 10 Years. *Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery*, *92*(6), 381–387. https://doi.org/10.1159/000366066
- Jenner, P., & Jenner, P. (1991). Oxidative stress as a cause of Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 84(S136), 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.1991.tb05013.x
- Jones, K. R., & Reichardt, L. F. (1990). Molecular cloning of a human gene that is a member of the nerve growth factor family. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 87(20), 8060–8064. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.87.20.8060

Jumper, J., Evans, R., Pritzel, A., Green, T., Figurnov, M., Ronneberger, O., Tunyasuvunakool, K., Bates, R., Z'idek, A., Potapenko, A., Bridgland, A., Meyer, C., Kohl, S. A. A., Ballard, A. J., Cowie, A., Romera-Paredes, B., Nikolov, S., Jain, R., Adler, J., ... Hassabis, D. (2021). Highly accurate protein structure prediction with AlphaFold. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03819-2

- Jung, K.-M., Tan, S., Landman, N., Petrova, K., Murray, S., Lewis, R., Kim, P. K., Kim, D. S., Ryu, S. H., Chao, M. V., & Kim, T.-W. (2003). Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Modulates Its Association with the TrkA Receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(43), 42161–42169. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M306028200
- Kanning, K. C., Hudson, M., Amieux, P. S., Wiley, J. C., Bothwell, M., & Schecterson, L. C. (2003). Proteolytic Processing of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor and Two Homologs Generates C-Terminal Fragments with Signaling Capability. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *23*(13), 5425–5436. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-13-05425.2003
- Kaplan, D. R., & Miller, F. D. (2000). Neurotrophin signal transduction in the nervous system. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 10(3), 381–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00092-1
- Kapuscinski, J. (1995). DAPI: A DNA-Specific Fluorescent Probe. *Biotechnic & Histochemistry*, 70(5), 220–233. https://doi.org/10.3109/10520299509108199
- Kenchappa, R. S., Tep, C., Korade, Z., Urra, S., Bronfman, F. C., Yoon, S. O., & Carter, B. D. (2010). P75 Neurotrophin Receptor-mediated Apoptosis in Sympathetic Neurons
 Involves a Biphasic Activation of JNK and Up-regulation of Tumor Necrosis Factor-α-converting Enzyme/ADAM17. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(26), 20358–20368. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.082834
- Klintworth, H., Newhouse, K., Li, T., Choi, W.-S., Faigle, R., & Xia, Z. (2007). Activation of c-Jun N-Terminal Protein Kinase Is a Common Mechanism Underlying Paraquat- and

Rotenone-Induced Dopaminergic Cell Apoptosis. *Toxicological Sciences*, 97(1), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfm029

- Knowles, J. K., Simmons, D. A., Nguyen, T.-V. V., Vander Griend, L., Xie, Y., Zhang, H.,
 Yang, T., Pollak, J., Chang, T., Arancio, O., Buckwalter, M. S., Wyss-Coray, T., Massa,
 S. M., & Longo, F. M. (2013). A small molecule p75NTR ligand prevents cognitive
 deficits and neurite degeneration in an Alzheimer's mouse model. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 34(8), 2052–2063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.02.015
- Koehler Leman, J., Szczerbiak, P., Renfrew, P. D., Gligorijevic, V., Berenberg, D., Vatanen, T., Taylor, B. C., Chandler, C., Janssen, S., Pataki, A., Carriero, N., Fisk, I., Xavier, R. J., Knight, R., Bonneau, R., & Kosciolek, T. (2023). Sequence-structure-function relationships in the microbial protein universe. *Nature Communications*, *14*(1), 2351. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-37896-w
- Korsching, S. (1993). The neurotrophic factor concept: A reexamination. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 13(7), 2739–2748. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-07-02739.1993
- Kraemer, B. R., Clements, R. T., Escobedo, C. M., Nelson, K. S., Waugh, C. D., Elliott, A. S., Hall, W. C., & Schemanski, M. T. (2021). C-Jun N-terminal Kinase Mediates Ligandindependent p75NTR Signaling in Mesencephalic Cells Subjected to Oxidative Stress. *Neuroscience*, 453, 222–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2020.11.036
- Kraemer, B. R., Snow, J. P., Vollbrecht, P., Pathak, A., Valentine, W. M., Deutch, A. Y., & Carter, B. D. (2014). A Role for the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor in Axonal Degeneration and Apoptosis Induced by Oxidative Stress. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(31), 21205–21216. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.563403

- Kraemer, B. R., Yoon, S. O., & Carter, B. D. (2014). The biological functions and signaling mechanisms of the p75 neurotrophin receptor. In *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* (Vol. 220). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-45106-5_6
- Kruttgen, A., Saxena, S., Evangelopoulos, M. E., & Weis, J. (2003). Neurotrophins and Neurodegenerative Diseases: Receptors Stuck in Traffic? *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 62(4), 340–350. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnen/62.4.340
- Langston, J. W., Ballard, P., Tetrud, J. W., & Irwin, I. (1983). Chronic Parkinsonism in Humans Due to a Product of Meperidine-Analog Synthesis. *Science*, 219(4587), 979–980. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6823561
- Lee, F. S., Kim, A. H., Khursigara, G., & Chao, M. V. (2001). The uniqueness of being a neurotrophin receptor. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 11(3), 281–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00209-9
- Lee, J., Freddolino, P. L., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Ab Initio Protein Structure Prediction. In D. J. Rigden (Ed.), *From Protein Structure to Function with Bioinformatics* (pp. 3–35). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1069-3_1
- Lee, S., Choi, K., Ahn, H., Song, K., Choe, J., & Lee, I. (2005). TuJ1 (class III β-tubulin) expression suggests dynamic redistribution of follicular dendritic cells in lymphoid tissue. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 84(2–3), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcb.2004.11.001
- Leßmann, V., & Brigadski, T. (2009). Mechanisms, locations, and kinetics of synaptic BDNF secretion: An update. *Neuroscience Research*, 65(1), 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2009.06.004

- Levi-Montalcini, R. (1987). The Nerve Growth Factor 35 Years Later. *Science*, 237(4819), 1154–1162. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3306916
- Longo, F., Longo, F., Massa, S., & Massa, S. (2008). Small Molecule Modulation of p75
 Neurotrophin Receptor Functions. CNS & Neurological Disorders Drug Targets, 7(1), 63–70. https://doi.org/10.2174/187152708783885093
- Longo, F. M., & Massa, S. M. (2013). Small-molecule modulation of neurotrophin receptors: A strategy for the treatment of neurological disease. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 12(7), 507–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4024
- Makletsova, M. G., Syatkin, S. P., Poleshchuk, V. V., Urazgildeeva, G. R., Chigaleychik, L. A., Sungrapova, C. Y., & Illarioshkin, S. N. (2019). Polyamines in Parkinson's Disease:
 Their Role in Oxidative Stress Induction and Protein Aggregation. *Journal of Neurology Research*, 9(1–2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.14740/jnr509
- Malik, S. C., Sozmen, E. G., Baeza-Raja, B., Le Moan, N., Akassoglou, K., & Schachtrup, C. (2021). In vivo functions of p75NTR: Challenges and opportunities for an emerging therapeutic target. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *42*(9), 772–788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2021.06.006
- Mamidipudi, V., & Wooten, M. W. (2002). Dual role for p75 ^{NTR} signaling in survival and cell death: Can intracellular mediators provide an explanation? *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 68(4), 373–384. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.10244
- Maness, L. M., Kastin, A. J., Weber, J. T., Banks, W. A., Beckman, B. S., & Zadina, J. E. (1994). The neurotrophins and their receptors: Structure, function, and neuropathology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 18(1), 143–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7634(94)90043-4

- Marogianni, C., Sokratous, M., Dardiotis, E., Hadjigeorgiou, G. M., Bogdanos, D., & Xiromerisiou, G. (2020). Neurodegeneration and Inflammation—An Interesting Interplay in Parkinson's Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(22), 8421. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21228421
- Martin-Zanca, D., Barbacid, M., & Parada, L. F. (1990). Expression of the trk proto-oncogene is restricted to the sensory cranial and spinal ganglia of neural crest origin in mouse development. *Genes & Development*, 4(5), 683–694. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.4.5.683
- Maruyama, I. (2014). Mechanisms of Activation of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases: Monomers or Dimers. *Cells*, *3*(2), 304–330. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells3020304
- Massa, S. M., Xie, Y., Yang, T., Harrington, A. W., Mi, L. K., Sung, O. Y., Kraemer, R., Moore,
 L. A., Hempstead, B. L., & Longo, F. M. (2006). Small, nonpeptide p75NTR ligands
 induce survival signaling and inhibit proNGF-induced death. *Journal of Neuroscience*,
 26(20), 5288–5300. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3547-05.2006
- McAllister, A. K., Katz, L. C., & Lo, D. C. (1999). NEUROTROPHINS AND SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 22(1), 295–318. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.295
- McDonald, N. Q., Lapatto, R., Rust, J. M., Gunning, J., Wlodawer, A., & Blundell, T. L. (1991). New protein fold revealed by a 2.3-Å resolution crystal structure of nerve growth factor. *Nature*, 354(6352), 411–414. https://doi.org/10.1038/354411a0
- McGee, A. W., & Strittmatter, S. M. (2003). The Nogo-66 receptor: Focusing myelin inhibition of axon regeneration. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 26(4), 193–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(03)00062-6

- Meeker, R., & Williams, K. (2015). The p75 neurotrophin receptor: At the crossroad of neural repair and death. *Neural Regeneration Research*, 10(5), 721. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.156967
- Meiser, J., Weindl, D., & Hiller, K. (2013). Complexity of dopamine metabolism. *Cell Communication and Signaling*, *11*(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-11-34
- Mowla, S. J., Farhadi, H. F., Pareek, S., Atwal, J. K., Morris, S. J., Seidah, N. G., & Murphy, R.
 A. (2001). Biosynthesis and Post-translational Processing of the Precursor to Brainderived Neurotrophic Factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *276*(16), 12660–12666. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M008104200
- Muhammed, M. T., & Aki-Yalcin, E. (2019). Homology modeling in drug discovery: Overview, current applications, and future perspectives. *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*, 93(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.13388
- Muragaki, Y., Timothy, N., Leight, S., Hempstead, B. L., Chao, M. V., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. -Y. (1995). Expression of *trk* receptors in the developing and adult human central and peripheral nervous system. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 356(3), 387– 397. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903560306
- Nadezhdin, K. D., García-Carpio, I., Goncharuk, S. A., Mineev, K. S., Arseniev, A. S., & Vilar,
 M. (2016). Structural Basis of p75 Transmembrane Domain Dimerization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(23), 12346–12357. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.723585
- Nakagawara, A. (2001). Trk receptor tyrosine kinases: A bridge between cancer and neural development. *Cancer Letters*, 169(2), 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3835(01)00530-4

- Nakmode, D. D., Day, C. M., Song, Y., & Garg, S. (2023). The Management of Parkinson's Disease: An Overview of the Current Advancements in Drug Delivery Systems. *Pharmaceutics*, 15(5), 1503. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics15051503
- Nasoohi, S., Tayefeh Ghahremani, P., Alehossein, P., Elyasizadeh, S., BaniArdalan, S., Ismael, S., Vatanpour, H., Ahmadiani, A., & Ishrat, T. (2023). The p75 neurotrophin receptor inhibitor, LM11A-31, ameliorates acute stroke injury and modulates astrocytic proNGF. *Experimental Neurology*, *359*, 114161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2022.114161
- Necci, M., Piovesan, D., CAID Predictors, Hoque, M. T., Walsh, I., Iqbal, S., Vendruscolo, M.,
 Sormanni, P., Wang, C., Raimondi, D., Sharma, R., Zhou, Y., Litfin, T., Galzitskaya, O.
 V., Lobanov, M. Yu., Vranken, W., Wallner, B., Mirabello, C., Malhis, N., ... Tosatto, S.
 C. E. (2021). Critical assessment of protein intrinsic disorder prediction. *Nature Methods*, *18*(5), 472–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-021-01117-3
- Nutl, J. G., & Fellman, J. H. (1984). Pharmacokinetics of Levodopa: *Clinical Neuropharmacology*, 7(1), 35–50. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002826-198403000-00002
- Nykjaer, A., Lee, R., Teng, K. K., Jansen, P., Madsen, P., Nielsen, M. S., Jacobsen, C.,
 Kliemannel, M., Schwarz, E., Willnow, T. E., Hempstead, B. L., & Petersen, C. M.
 (2004). Sortilin is essential for proNGF-induced neuronal cell death. *Nature*, 427(6977),
 843–848. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02319
- Nykjaer, A., & Willnow, T. E. (2012). Sortilin: A receptor to regulate neuronal viability and function. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(4), 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2012.01.003

Oppenheim, R. W. (1991). Cell Death During Development of the Nervous System. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 14(1), 453–501. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.14.030191.002321

- Patapoutian, A., & Reichardt, L. F. (2001). Trk receptors: Mediators of neurotrophin action. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 11(3), 272–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00208-7
- Patel, T., & Chang, F. (2015). Practice recommendations for Parkinson's disease: Assessment and management by community pharmacists. *Canadian Pharmacists Journal / Revue Des Pharmaciens Du Canada*, 148(3), 142–149. https://doi.org/10.1177/1715163515578146
- Pérez, P., Coll, P. M., Hempstead, B. L., Martín-Zanca, D., & Chao, M. V. (1995). NGF Binding to the trk Tyrosine Kinase Receptor Requires the Extracellular Immunoglobulin-like Domains. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 6(2), 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1006/mcne.1995.1010
- Petruska, J. C., & Mendell, L. M. (2017). Nerve Growth Factor ☆. In Reference Module in Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychology (p. B9780128093245022999). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.02299-9
- Purdon, A. D., & Rapoport, S. I. (2007). 4.6 Energy Consumption by Phospholipid Metabolism in Mammalian Brain. In A. Lajtha, G. E. Gibson, & G. A. Dienel (Eds.), *Handbook of Neurochemistry and Molecular Neurobiology* (pp. 401–427). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-30411-3_15
- Redl, I., Fisicaro, C., Dutton, O., Hoffmann, F., Henderson, L., Owens, B. M. J., Heberling, M.,Paci, E., & Tamiola, K. (2023). ADOPT: Intrinsic protein disorder prediction through

deep bidirectional transformers. *NAR Genomics and Bioinformatics*, 5(2), lqad041. https://doi.org/10.1093/nargab/lqad041

- Reichardt, L. F. (2006). Neurotrophin-regulated signalling pathways. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 361(1473), 1545–1564. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2006.1894
- Riederer, P., & Horowski, R. (2023). L-DOPA-therapy in Parkinson's disease: Some personal reflections on L-DOPA therapy from Vienna and Berlin. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, *130*(11), 1323–1335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-023-02692-9
- Rodriguez-Oroz, M. C., Jahanshahi, M., Krack, P., Litvan, I., Macias, R., Bezard, E., & Obeso, J.
 A. (2009). Initial clinical manifestations of Parkinson's disease: Features and pathophysiological mechanisms. *The Lancet Neurology*, 8(12), 1128–1139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70293-5
- Roy, A., Kucukural, A., & Zhang, Y. (2010). I-TASSER: A unified platform for automated protein structure and function prediction. *Nature Protocols*, 5(4), 725–738. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2010.5
- Saxena, S., Howe, C. L., Cosgaya, J. M., Steiner, P., Hirling, H., Chan, J. R., Weis, J., & Krüttgen, A. (2005). Differential endocytic sorting of p75NTR and TrkA in response to NGF: A role for late endosomes in TrkA trafficking. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 28(3), 571–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2004.11.011

Schapira, A. H. V., Chaudhuri, K. R., & Jenner, P. (2017). Non-motor features of Parkinson disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18(7), 435–450. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2017.62

- Shamovsky, I. L., Weaver, D. F., Ross, G. M., & Riopelle, R. J. (2008a). The interaction of neurotrophins with the p75NTR common neurotrophin receptor: A comprehensive molecular modeling study. *Protein Science*, 8(11), 2223–2233. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.8.11.2223
- Shamovsky, I. L., Weaver, D. F., Ross, G. M., & Riopelle, R. J. (2008b). The interaction of neurotrophins with the p75NTR common neurotrophin receptor: A comprehensive molecular modeling study. *Protein Science*, 8(11), 2223–2233. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.8.11.2223
- Shelton, D., Sutherland, J., Gripp, J., Camerato, T., Armanini, M., Phillips, H., Carroll, K., Spencer, S., & Levinson, A. (1995). Human trks: Molecular cloning, tissue distribution, and expression of extracellular domain immunoadhesins. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(1), 477–491. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.15-01-00477.1995
- Shi, J., Longo, F. M., & Massa, S. M. (2013). A small molecule p75NTR ligand protects neurogenesis after traumatic brain injury. *Stem Cells*, 31(11), 2561–2574. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1516
- Shichiri, M. (2014). The role of lipid peroxidation in neurological disorders. *Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition*, 54(3), 151–160. https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.14-10
- Shu, Y.-H., Lu, X.-M., Wei, J.-X., Xiao, L., & Wang, Y.-T. (2015). Update on the role of p75NTR in neurological disorders: A novel therapeutic target. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 76, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2015.10.010
- Sidorova, Y. A., Volcho, K. P., & Salakhutdinov, N. F. (2019). Neuroregeneration in Parkinson's Disease: From Proteins to Small Molecules. *Current Neuropharmacology*, *17*(3), 268–287. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X16666180905094123

- Siegel, G. J., & Chauhan, N. B. (2000). Neurotrophic factors in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease brain. *Brain Research Reviews*, 33(2–3), 199–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(00)00030-8
- Simi, A., & Ibáñez, C. F. (2010). Assembly and activation of neurotrophic factor receptor complexes. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 70(5), 323–331. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20773
- Simmons, D. A., Belichenko, N. P., Ford, E. C., Semaan, S., Monbureau, M., Aiyaswamy, S., Holman, C. M., Condon, C., Shamloo, M., Massa, S. M., & Longo, F. M. (2016). A small molecule p75NTR ligand normalizes signalling and reduces Huntington's disease phenotypes in R6/2 and BACHD mice. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 25(22), 4920–4938. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw316
- Simmons, D. A., Knowles, J. K., Belichenko, N. P., Banerjee, G., Finkle, C., Massa, S. M., & Longo, F. M. (2014). A Small Molecule p75NTR Ligand, LM11A-31, Reverses
 Cholinergic Neurite Dystrophy in Alzheimer's Disease Mouse Models with Mid- to Late-Stage Disease Progression. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(8), e102136.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102136
- Simmons, D. A., Mills, B. D., Butler Iii, R. R., Kuan, J., McHugh, T. L. M., Akers, C., Zhou, J., Syriani, W., Grouban, M., Zeineh, M., & Longo, F. M. (2021). Neuroimaging, Urinary, and Plasma Biomarkers of Treatment Response in Huntington's Disease: Preclinical Evidence with the p75NTR Ligand LM11A-31. *Neurotherapeutics*, 18(2), 1039–1063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-021-01023-8
- Simola, N., Morelli, M., & Carta, A. R. (2007). The 6-Hydroxydopamine model of parkinson's disease. *Neurotoxicity Research*, 11(3–4), 151–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03033565

- Singh, A., Kukreti, R., Saso, L., & Kukreti, S. (2019). Oxidative Stress: A Key Modulator in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Molecules*, 24(8), 1583. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24081583
- Skaper, S. (2008). The Biology of Neurotrophins, Signalling Pathways, and Functional Peptide Mimetics of Neurotrophins and their Receptors. CNS & Neurological Disorders - Drug Targets, 7(1), 46–62. https://doi.org/10.2174/187152708783885174
- Skeldal, S., Sykes, A. M., Glerup, S., Matusica, D., Palstra, N., Autio, H., Boskovic, Z., Madsen, P., Castrén, E., Nykjaer, A., & Coulson, E. J. (2012). Mapping of the interaction site between sortilin and the p75 neurotrophin receptor reveals a regulatory role for the sortilin intracellular domain in p75 neurotrophin receptor shedding and apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(52), 43798–43809. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.374710
- Snider, W. D. (1994). Functions of the neurotrophins during nervous system development: What the knockouts are teaching us. *Cell*, 77(5), 627–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90048-5
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M.-Y., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., & Goedert, M. (1997). α-Synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature*, 388(6645), 839–840. https://doi.org/10.1038/42166
- Sriram, K., Pai, K. S., Boyd, M. R., & Ravindranath, V. (1997). Evidence for generation of oxidative stress in brain by MPTP: In vitro and in vivo studies in mice. *Brain Research*, 749(1), 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(96)01271-1
- Stawikowska, R., Cudic, M., Giulianotti, M., Houghten, R. A., Fields, G. B., & Minond, D.(2013). Activity of ADAM17 (a Disintegrin and Metalloprotease 17) Is Regulated by Its
Noncatalytic Domains and Secondary Structure of its Substrates. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(31), 22871–22879. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.462267

- Sulzer, D., & Surmeier, D. J. (2013). Neuronal vulnerability, pathogenesis, and Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 28(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25095
- Tep, C., Lim, T. H., Ko, P. O., Getahun, S., Ryu, J. C., Goettl, V. M., Massa, S. M., Basso, M., Longo, F. M., & Yoon, S. O. (2013). Oral Administration of a Small Molecule Targeted to Block proNGF Binding to p75 Promotes Myelin Sparing and Functional Recovery after Spinal Cord Injury. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(2), 397–410. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0399-12.2013
- Thomas, B., & Beal, M. F. (2007). Parkinson's disease. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 16(R2), R183–R194. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddm159
- Tolosa, E., Martí, M. J., Valldeoriola, F., & Molinuevo, J. L. (1998). History of levodopa and dopamine agonists in Parkinson's disease treatment. *Neurology*, 50(6_suppl_6). https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.50.6_Suppl_6.S2
- Tompa, P. (2002). Intrinsically unstructured proteins.
- Trivedi, R., & Nagarajaram, H. A. (2022). Intrinsically Disordered Proteins: An Overview. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 23(22), 14050. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232214050
- Uren, R. T., & Turnley, A. M. (2014). Regulation of neurotrophin receptor (Trk) signaling:
 Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 (SOCS2) is a new player. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2014.00039

- Urfer, R., Tsoulfas, P., O'Connell, L., Shelton, D. L., Parada, L. F., & Presta, L. G. (1995). An immunoglobulin-like domain determines the specificity of neurotrophin receptors. *The EMBO Journal*, 14(12), 2795–2805. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb07279.x
- Uversky, V. N. (2013). Intrinsically Disordered Proteins. In *Brenner's Encyclopedia of Genetics* (pp. 124–126). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374984-0.01698-3
- Valenzuela, D. M., Maisonpierre, P. C., Glass, D. J., Rojas, E., Nuñez, L., Kong, Y., Gies, D. R., Stitt, T. N., Ip, N. Y., & Yancopoulos, G. D. (1993). Alternative forms of rat TrkC with different functional capabilities. *Neuron*, 10(5), 963–974. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(93)90211-9
- Verbeke, S., Tomellini, E., Dhamani, F., Meignan, S., Adriaenssens, E., & Xuefen, L. B. (2013). Extracellular cleavage of the p75 neurotrophin receptor is implicated in its pro-survival effect in breast cancer cells. *FEBS Letters*, 587(16), 2591–2596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2013.06.039
- Vilar, M. (2017). Structural Characterization of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor. In *Vitamins and Hormones* (Vol. 104, pp. 57–87). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.vh.2016.10.007
- Wang, J. J. L., Rabizadeh, S., Tasinato, A., Sperandio, S., Ye, X., Green, M., Assa-Munt, N., Spencer, D., & Bredesen, D. E. (2000). Dimerization-dependent block of the proapoptotic effect of P75NTR. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 60(5), 587–593. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(20000601)60:5<587::AID-JNR3>3.0.CO;2-1
- Wang, X., Bauer, J. H., Li, Y., Shao, Z., Zetoune, F. S., Cattaneo, E., & Vincenz, C. (2001).
 Characterization of a p75NTR Apoptotic Signaling Pathway Using a Novel Cellular
 Model. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(36), 33812–33820.
 https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010548200

Waterhouse, A., Bertoni, M., Bienert, S., Studer, G., Tauriello, G., Gumienny, R., Heer, F. T.,
De Beer, T. A. P., Rempfer, C., Bordoli, L., Lepore, R., & Schwede, T. (2018). SWISSMODEL: Homology modelling of protein structures and complexes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(W1), W296–W303. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky427

Webb, B., & Sali, A. (2014). Comparative Protein Structure Modeling Using MODELLER. *Current Protocols in Bioinformatics*, 47(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/0471250953.bi0506s47

- Weskamp, G., Schlöndorff, J., Lum, L., Becherer, J. D., Kim, T.-W., Saftig, P., Hartmann, D.,
 Murphy, G., & Blobel, C. P. (2004). Evidence for a Critical Role of the Tumor Necrosis
 Factor α Convertase (TACE) in Ectodomain Shedding of the p75 Neurotrophin Receptor
 (p75NTR). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(6), 4241–4249.
 https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M307974200
- Wiese, S., Metzger, F., Holtmann, B., & Sendtner, M. (1999). The role of p75 ^{NTR} in modulating neurotrophin survival effects in developing motoneurons. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *11*(5), 1668–1676. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00585.x
- Willis, A. W., Roberts, E., Beck, J. C., Fiske, B., Ross, W., Savica, R., Van Den Eeden, S. K., Tanner, C. M., Marras, C., on behalf of the Parkinson's Foundation P4 Group, Alcalay, R., Schwarzschild, M., Racette, B., Chen, H., Church, T., Wilson, B., & Doria, J. M. (2022). Incidence of Parkinson disease in North America. *Npj Parkinson's Disease*, 8(1), 170. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41531-022-00410-y
- Xia, Y., Huang, E. S., Levitt, M., & Samudrala, R. (2000). Ab initio construction of protein tertiary structures using a hierarchical approach. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 300(1), 171–185. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.2000.3835

- Xiao, B., Kuruvilla, J., & Tan, E.-K. (2022). Mitophagy and reactive oxygen species interplay in Parkinson's disease. *Npj Parkinson's Disease*, 8(1), 135. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41531-022-00402-y
- Xie, Y., Seawell, J., Boesch, E., Allen, L., Suchy, A., Longo, F. M., & Meeker, R. B. (2021). Small molecule modulation of the p75 neurotrophin receptor suppresses age- and genotype-associated neurodegeneration in HIV gp120 transgenic mice. *Experimental Neurology*, 335, 113489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2020.113489
- Xin, X., Gong, T., & Hong, Y. (2022). Hydrogen peroxide initiates oxidative stress and proteomic alterations in meningothelial cells. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 14519. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-18548-3
- Xiong, L., Chen, L., Deng, I. B., Zhou, X., & Wang, T. (2022). P75 neurotrophin receptor as a therapeutic target for drug development to treat neurological diseases. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 56(8), 5299–5318. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.15810
- Xue, B., Dunbrack, R. L., Williams, R. W., Dunker, A. K., & Uversky, V. N. (2010). PONDR-FIT: A meta-predictor of intrinsically disordered amino acids. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Proteins and Proteomics*, 1804(4), 996–1010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2010.01.011
- Yacoubian, T. A., & Standaert, D. G. (2009). Targets for neuroprotection in Parkinson's disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1792(7), 676–687.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.09.009
- Yang, J., Yan, R., Roy, A., Xu, D., Poisson, J., & Zhang, Y. (2015). The I-TASSER Suite: Protein structure and function prediction. *Nature Methods*, 12(1), 7–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3213

- Yang, T. (2020). Small molecule modulation of the p75 neurotrophin receptor inhibits multiple amyloid beta-induced tau pathologies. *Scientific Reports*.
- Yang, T., Liu, H., Tran, K. C., Leng, A., Massa, S. M., & Longo, F. M. (2020). Small-molecule modulation of the p75 neurotrophin receptor inhibits a wide range of tau molecular pathologies and their sequelae in P301S tauopathy mice. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-020-01034-0
- Yang, W., Hamilton, J. L., Kopil, C., Beck, J. C., Tanner, C. M., Albin, R. L., Ray Dorsey, E., Dahodwala, N., Cintina, I., Hogan, P., & Thompson, T. (2020). Current and projected future economic burden of Parkinson's disease in the U.S. *Npj Parkinson's Disease*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41531-020-0117-1
- Yano, H., & Chao, M. V. (2000). Neurotrophin receptor structure and interactions. *Pharmaceutica Acta Helvetiae*, 74(2–3), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-6865(99)00036-9
- Yano, H., Lee, F. S., Kong, H., Chuang, J.-Z., Arevalo, J. C., Perez, P., Sung, C.-H., & Chao, M. V. (2001). Association of Trk Neurotrophin Receptors with Components of the Cytoplasmic Dynein Motor. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(3), RC125–RC125. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-03-j0003.2001
- Zampieri, N., Xu, C. F., Neubert, T. A., & Chao, M. V. (2005). Cleavage of p75 neurotrophin receptor by α-secretase and γ-secretase requires specific receptor domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(15), 14563–14571. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M412957200
- Zangaglia, R., Pasotti, C., Mancini, F., Servello, D., Sinforiani, E., & Pacchetti, C. (2012). Deep brain stimulation and cognition in Parkinson's disease: An eight-year follow-up study. *Movement Disorders*, 27(9), 1192–1194. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25047

- Zanin, J. P., Montroull, L. E., Volosin, M., & Friedman, W. J. (2019). The p75 Neurotrophin Receptor Facilitates TrkB Signaling and Function in Rat Hippocampal Neurons. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 13, 485. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00485
- Zhang, Y. (2008). I-TASSER server for protein 3D structure prediction. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 9(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-9-40

Zhao, L., Shey, M., Farnsworth, M., & Dailey, M. O. (2001). Regulation of Membrane
Metalloproteolytic Cleavage of L-selectin (CD62L) by the Epidermal Growth Factor
Domain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(33), 30631–30640.
https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M103748200

Zhou, X.-F., & Wang, Y.-J. (2011). The p75NTR extracellular domain: A potential molecule regulating the solubility and removal of amyloid-β. *Prion*, 5(3), 161–163. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.5.3.16896